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          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Good morning.

          3  This is a hearing of the Higher Education Committee

          4  of the City Council.  My name is Council Member

          5  Charles Barron, and we are officially opening this

          6  hearing on a very, very important topic this

          7  morning.

          8                 Before I get started, I wanted to

          9  welcome you and introduce you to my colleagues,

         10  Council Member Larry Seabrook, Council Member Bill

         11  Perkins and the Deputy Majority Leader, Council

         12  Member Margarita Lopez, and Maritza our lawyer here,

         13  who works so hard to do all the research to get the

         14  information we need to conduct these hearings.  We

         15  want to welcome you on behalf of all of them this

         16  morning.

         17                 I am going to read an opening

         18  statement, and then after the opening statement we

         19  will have some testimony from witnesses and we need

         20  to say to you off the top, many more of our

         21  colleagues would have been here today, but today was

         22  Benjamin Wards funeral, the former first Black

         23  Police Commissioner, so we ran into some of that.

         24  But we wanted to go forth with these hearings

         25  because they are very, very important to us on what
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          2  happens on the, in the Board of Regents.  We want to

          3  learn more about the Board of Regents, its function,

          4  its processes, its duties, its purpose, its mission,

          5  its history.  So we wanted to really get good

          6  information.

          7                 We sent out invitations to many of

          8  all of the Regents, we have spoken to them by phone,

          9  we called them all up, no one can say they do not

         10  know about it.  Some claim they got stuff late, but

         11  we have sent things out two weeks ago, notices out

         12  two weeks ago.  We did get about six, seven, eight

         13  calls from those many Regents who said they could

         14  not make it today because they had other

         15  engagements, prior engagements.  Some said that they

         16  had travel considerations.  So we are going ahead

         17  anyway, we want to find out more about this process.

         18                 Assemblyman Al Vann has presented a

         19  resolution that we will be hearing today and voting

         20  on today.  And we will give you information on that

         21  as we go forth.

         22                 For the record, good morning.  I

         23  would welcome everyone here to this hearing of the

         24  Committee on Higher Education. My name is Charles

         25  Barron and I Chair the Committee.  I would like to
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          2  welcome my colleagues on the Committee.  At this

          3  time Council Member Larry Seabrook, Council Member

          4  Bill Perkins, Council Member Margarita Lopez.  Bill

          5  Perkins has sat on this Committee in the past and is

          6  our Deputy Majority Leader.

          7                 The purpose of today's hearing is to

          8  discuss the process involved in electing a current

          9  Regent to the Office of Chancellor to the Board of

         10  Regents of the University of the State of New York.

         11  The Committee will also hear testimony regarding the

         12  recent election in March of this year of a new

         13  Chancellor by the Board of Regents.  The Regents of

         14  the University of New York is responsible for the

         15  general supervision of all educational activities

         16  within the State and for setting educational policy

         17  for the State.  The Regents also presides over the

         18  New York State Department of Education, which

         19  encompasses all of the institutions both public and

         20  private that are offering educational opportunities

         21  in the State.

         22                 Today the members of the Committee

         23  will vote on Resolution No. 250, which admonishes

         24  the Board of Regents of the University of the State

         25  of New York for breaking tradition by failing to
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          2  elect to the position of Chancellor the incumbent

          3  Vice Chancellor, Dr. Adelaid L. Sanford.  It is our

          4  understanding that the tradition of the Board of

          5  Regents is to elect as successor Chancellor the

          6  incumbent Vice- Chancellor.

          7                 Resolution No. 250 requests that the

          8  Board of Regents explain to the New York State

          9  Legislature all Statewide educational organizations

         10  and to all New Yorkers why they neglected to follow

         11  this tradition.  Vice- Chancellor Sanford's record

         12  of educational leadership and professional

         13  achievement as well as personal merit distinguishes

         14  her as a visionary and committed education leader.

         15  Vice- Chancellor Sanford has worked tirelessly on

         16  behalf of all the children of the State of New York

         17  to help provide them with a quality education

         18  through the State's public school system.

         19                 With that statement we want to say

         20  that whether it is a time honored process where

         21  every Vice- Chancellor became Chancellor or not, it

         22  is just a part of the issue.  We do not understand

         23  how, I do not understand, I will speak for myself,

         24  here, how one can be a part, the present Chancellor

         25  can be a part of the Board of Regents and not be
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          2  selected to be Vice- Chancellor, and then jump over

          3  the Vice- Chancellor and become Chancellor, I just

          4  do not understand that process.  I do not understand

          5  a meeting, we required the minutes for, according to

          6  the minutes of the meeting there was no great

          7  discussion or debate on qualifications during the

          8  voting time.  I do not understand that either.  So

          9  there are just a lot of questions that we have about

         10  this whole process.

         11                 People do not like to talk about

         12  race, but I do not understand the racial, I want to

         13  make sure that there are no racial implications in

         14  this process, that it was totally objective and

         15  based upon the qualifications of the individuals in

         16  the field. That is the other reason why we wanted

         17  people to come out to see how the secret vote broke

         18  down to make sure that there were no race questions,

         19  no class questions, no gender questions, but a fair

         20  objective, open process given the best candidate an

         21  opportunity to ascend to that position.  So that is

         22  the purpose of today's hearing, and we will start

         23  with our first witnesses.

         24                 MS. BOLANOS:  I am going to call up a

         25  panel of three persons, Olivia Banks, Betty Dopson,
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          2  and Mary France- Daniels.

          3                 I am going to swear you all in at the

          4  same time, so I would ask that each of you raise

          5  your hand?  Do you each independently swear that the

          6  testimony that you are about to provide before this

          7  Committee is the whole truth and to the best of your

          8  knowledge?

          9                 ALL:  I do.

         10                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, please, state

         11  your name and organization for the record, before

         12  you begin your testimony?

         13  And we will start with Ms. Banks.

         14                 MS. BANKS:  Thank you.  My name is

         15  Olivia Banks and I am the Chairperson and founder of

         16  New Yorkers for Inclusive Educational Curriculum,

         17  which is an educational advocacy group that has been

         18  in existence for a little more than a decade.  We

         19  had focused on mainly equity in education and have

         20  spent much time traveling to and from here to Albany

         21  to the Regents meetings. There was a time that many

         22  of us only knew of the Regents as an examination.

         23  But over, since the late eighties to present time we

         24  know that this is a body of people who are the

         25  highest policy board making decisions about
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          2  education.

          3                 I am here to speak on behalf of Dr.

          4  Sanford.  I am very concerned about what did happen

          5  during that voting situation. Since she is the most

          6  senior member having 16 years of tenure there, I am

          7  very concerned that several of her accomplishments

          8  in other things, that I am certain other people will

          9  speak on, did not come into play in considering

         10  their voting.

         11                 One thing I am concerned about is the

         12  fact that SURR Schools that came to light under

         13  Commissioner Sobel and were brought forward under

         14  the present Commissioner Mills, were really, became

         15  a top priority to my knowledge after her presence on

         16  that Board.  The Regents had also, not to my

         17  knowledge, traveled out from Albany on a regular

         18  basis prior to the latter part of the eighties to

         19  visit schools throughout New York State.  And I can

         20  say that because when we first started taking buses,

         21  every month except July and August, for the first

         22  year and a half we knew we could go every Thursday

         23  at a certain time and be there for X, Y and Z. After

         24  the second year or heading into the third year, and

         25  this whole push to bringing equity to the schools
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          2  and to the children, they began to go out.  So there

          3  were some months that we did not go.

          4                 So a lot of that, I think, came from

          5  her consistence, consistent push for equity among

          6  our children in our schools in New York State.  I

          7  think her major concern was that no child be left

          8  behind.

          9                 Traditionally, after some 40 some

         10  years of recorded record as was stated by the Chair,

         11  where minutes were taken, and the Vice- Chancellor

         12  placed his name on the plate, there was always an

         13  automatic voting in of this person as Chancellor.

         14  So my question is, is it possible that the glass

         15  ceiling prevented their being democratic and

         16  prevented gender equity?

         17                 That is the end of my statement.

         18                 MS. BOLANOS:  Next, please.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  The City

         20  Council, we have got to get things together, when

         21  the light is on, it's off.  When the light is off,

         22  it's on.  So that is why we have 38 new City Council

         23  members so we can come in here and change some

         24  things.  That is one of the things we are working

         25  on.
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          2                 MS. DOPSON:  Good morning.  I am

          3  Betty Dopson, and I am the Director of the Southern

          4  Queens Park Association Beacon School, and I am a

          5  member of the Board for the Education of People

          6  African Ancestry.

          7                 I am most grateful to the members of

          8  the New York City Council and particularly to

          9  Councilman Barron for providing me with an

         10  opportunity to express my deep concern for what I

         11  felt was a grievous error on the part of the New

         12  York State Board of Regents.  I commend this body of

         13  legislators for having the foresight and the

         14  fortitude to challenge this grievous error of

         15  judgement.

         16                 I hope that this inquiry, this

         17  admonishment of the Board of Regents includes

         18  scrutiny into the background of the newly elected

         19  Chancellor.  I ask that you include this because

         20  during the media attack against the Vice-

         21  Chancellor, I had no opportunity to read anything

         22  about the background, the experience or the

         23  character of the newly elected Chancellor.  I was in

         24  the room when the nominations were made, and even

         25  though the time established for the vote changed
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          2  several times, the room was filled to capacity.

          3                 I was in the room when the outgoing

          4  Chancellor Hayden severed tradition and followed the

          5  nomination with a rambling explanation as to why he

          6  did not feel that Dr. Vice Chancellor Adelaid

          7  Sanford was the person for the position.  I left

          8  there with a wounded spirit, because I know of the

          9  qualifications and the dedication of Regent Dr.

         10  Adelaid Sanford.

         11                 This is a wonderful document that you

         12  have here, Resolution 250.  And it is my hope that

         13  it will document, establish, expose and reveal why

         14  the most qualified, experienced, wise, motivated

         15  educator and visionary leader was passed over for a

         16  person that, I am going to be very frank in my

         17  expression, that compared to Regents Dr. Vice-

         18  Chancellor Adelaid Sanford was a mediocrity.

         19                 It is my hope that your Resolution

         20  will reveal to those of us who left that room

         21  feeling downhearted, feeling as if racism was very

         22  much alive in that room.  It is my hope that through

         23  Resolution 250 this will be revealed and that we can

         24  come to closure and come to an understanding that in

         25  truth and injustice crushed earth will rise again.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON;  We thank you

          4  very much for your testimony.

          5                 MS. FRANCE- DANIELS:  Good morning.

          6  My name is Mary France- Daniels.  I am an educator,

          7  an education, social justice and political activist

          8  and Vice- Chair of The Unity Party, that is an

          9  African led party.  I served as the Director of the

         10  Office of Parent Involvement for the New York City

         11  Board of Education under Dr. Richard Green, and for

         12  five years I served on the Regents Visiting

         13  Committee on Low- Performing Schools and the

         14  Advisory Subcommittee that developed for the Regents

         15  diploma the report "Perform or Perish."  I would

         16  like to thank Councilman Barron, as Chair of the

         17  Higher Education Committee; Councilman Vann and all

         18  the others who have signed onto this Resolution.

         19                 I commend you for the bold step,

         20  because in fact it is bold.  I appreciate the

         21  opportunity to speak today because I was very, very

         22  troubled, as were many other people in our

         23  community, when I learned of the Board's rejection

         24  of Vice- Chancellor Adelaid Sanford for the position

         25  of Chancellor.  I would like to believe that there
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          2  was no chicanery involved in the process, but as an

          3  African- American, history has shown me on many

          4  occasions that there are often different standards

          5  when it comes to my people.  Many may say why is

          6  that Black people always think everything is racial?

          7  Well, it's quite hard not to when you observe a

          8  totally competent person who has given of herself,

          9  selflessly, unrelentingly, tirelessly over the years

         10  and then ignored and disregarded as if she had never

         11  done a thing.

         12                 Vice- Chancellor Adelaid Sanford has

         13  given nearly 16 years, that is not a small thing, 16

         14  years of impeccable service to the University of the

         15  State of New York, to the people of this State who

         16  serve in the various professions, to students,

         17  parents and children throughout this State.  And it

         18  should have counted for something, if it was not

         19  racism, what was it?  Please, somebody tell me.  Was

         20  it sexism, is it that folks are not really ready for

         21  a woman Chancellor?  I would like to be able to feel

         22  that race and politics did not play a role in this

         23  election process, but that is yet to be determined.

         24  It is to me unconscionable that someone with such a

         25  history of service would have been slighted and
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          2  disrespected.  There is absolutely no logical,

          3  reasonable, rational or acceptable explanation for

          4  why Mrs. Sanford is not Chancellor today.

          5                 I have sat in many meetings over the

          6  years.  I have seen Mrs. Sanford time and again

          7  bring different communities and players together,

          8  into the same room, to work for solutions to make

          9  education work, to help uplift both children and

         10  parents and help them better their lives.  She is

         11  not only one of the most intelligent people on the

         12  planet, she is a kind, caring, strong, intuitive,

         13  courageous and extremely competent individual.  She

         14  is an asset that obviously the Regents have yet

         15  learned to appreciate.

         16                 You may say the process was fair

         17  because there was a legitimate vote by the Board.

         18  The question still remains why they voted as they

         19  did rather than in the traditional manner of

         20  choosing the next in line, especially when that

         21  person has served for so many years and was

         22  considered capable enough to be qualified as Vice-

         23  Chancellor.  What were those qualifications, were

         24  they discussed and agreed upon, when was the

         25  relevant information made public, and what was those
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          2  dynamic qualifications and qualities that Mr.

          3  Bennett possesses that Mrs. Sanford does not, that

          4  were so vital for the successful carrying out of the

          5  duties and responsibility of the Chancellor?  It

          6  seems to me that unless Mr. Bennett was head and

          7  shoulders about Mrs. Sanford, seeing as how she was

          8  in the 2nd in position that she would have been

          9  chosen. Did she all of a sudden in January, 2002

         10  become unqualified?

         11                 And the business of Mr. Bennett being

         12  able to work well with the total Board.

         13  Implication, Mrs. Sanford can't.  That is

         14  preposterous!  She has been working with the same

         15  Board as Vice Chancellor, and when in human history

         16  has any board anywhere ever had total, unanimous

         17  agreement always.  In New York City we had eight

         18  years of Mayor Rudolph Giuliani, and he did not get

         19  along with a lot of people.  Despite that, people

         20  felt he did a terrific job.

         21                 The reasoning was flawed and

         22  ridiculous, I think the actions of the Board were

         23  deplorable and cowardly.  I hope that at least some

         24  Board member will admit to themselves, if not to

         25  anyone else, that they did Mrs. Sanford a
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          2  disservice, and I hope that some of them will feel

          3  some remorse, and I am sorry that none of them are

          4  here today.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Please remain

          7  seated for a minute.  We thank you for the power and

          8  passion of the testimony, the intelligence and

          9  eloquence of your testimony.  And I would like for

         10  my colleagues, if you have any questions, we want to

         11  open it up at this time, and Council Member

         12  Margarita Lopez.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I want to say

         14  that, (in Spanish), is looking at you from the sky

         15  with such pride to the three of you.  You are

         16  Queens, to me.

         17                 Saying that, I am just curious, the

         18  three of you were in the room when this decision was

         19  made or some of you were?

         20                 MS. DOPSON:  I was in the room.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  You were?

         22                 MS. DOPSON:  I was in the room.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  You were.  Did

         24  you hear any explanation given for breaking away

         25  from tradition prior to the vote taken?
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          2                 MS. DOPSON:  Yes, I would paraphrase

          3  Mr. Hayden.  He indicated, and I'm paraphrasing, - -

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Yes, I

          5  understand.

          6                 MS. DOPSON: - -  that Vice-

          7  Chancellor Sanford was not the team player that the

          8  Board of Regents needed in order to move forward

          9  with their work.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then it was

         11  not questioning her qualifications, her capacity to

         12  do the job is simply does not play well with others.

         13                 MS. DOPSON:  He was very careful to

         14  compliment her ability and her skill and her

         15  history.  And he even admonished the press for

         16  printing information that, you know, scoreless

         17  information about her.  He said that not a word of

         18  it was true, but she is not my candidate for

         19  Chancellor.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And in the

         21  statement that he made indicating that he went

         22  further to indicate what that means that she does

         23  not get along with others, did he make any

         24  explanation of that?

         25                 MS. DOPSON:  Well let me just say
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          2  this, following the vote I approached the outgoing

          3  Chancellor and I asked him how he could possibly

          4  have come to the conclusion that he did?  And his

          5  response to me was, oh, I know how you feel.  And my

          6  response to him was, no, you don't.  I said, you

          7  know, you have not answered my question, and he did

          8  not answer it, he simply walked away.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I wanted to

         10  know, to the best of your knowledge, of either one

         11  of you, before 1978, and the reason I said 1978 is

         12  because that is when I arrived to the United States,

         13  and therefore, I do not know the history of the

         14  colleges, was it ever a person of color assigned to

         15  be a Chancellor?

         16                 ALL:  Never.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And before

         18  1978 ever a woman assigned to be a Chancellor?

         19                 ALL:  Never.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Never.  I know

         21  the answer after 1978, therefore, I do not have to

         22  ask that.

         23                 Do you believe, any one of you, and

         24  if you can give me an explanation for that belief,

         25  that the rationale behind not appointing her had to
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          2  do with her gender and with her race, or do you

          3  believe is any other political motivation behind it?

          4    Because when we talk about the system of education

          5  and higher education, that is the key for people

          6  being able to move up in the ladder of class.  And

          7  if you maintain that key in the hands of few and

          8  always maintain the same kind of group of people

          9  being educated the ladder never change and the

         10  classes never move.  Do you think it is combination

         11  of that, of making sure that access to education by

         12  those people who never have the opportunity to

         13  access, play a role also in it, or is it a matter of

         14  race and gender?

         15                 MS. FRANCE- DANIELS:  I really think

         16  it is all of the above, because it is, this is my

         17  own personal feeling.  The fact that somebody could

         18  use an explanation of somebody not working well with

         19  someone, I mean, one of the things that is supposed

         20  to make us great is our diversity, being able to

         21  have different opinions.  You got people on the

         22  Council, you do not always agree with each other.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Well to tell

         24  you the truth people say that about me.  I mean that

         25  I do not play well with others.
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          2                 MS. FRANCE- DANIELS:  Yes, but what I

          3  am saying is, that people have a right to have

          4  different views.  And to say that someone should not

          5  have a position simply based on that, for a person

          6  in the highest position for the State Education

          7  Department, to simply not select someone because

          8  they feel that person, to me that is really

          9  ludicrous.  Because the qualifications, if the

         10  record has shown how this person has done wonderful

         11  things and can move the system ahead and help the

         12  children throughout the State, why would you then

         13  not give that position to that very competent

         14  person.  So I can, there is no reason, I cannot

         15  believe it was not all of the above.  White man's

         16  world, race, power, keeping people in position, I

         17  mean this is the United States of America, that is

         18  how it works.  That is my own opinion.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And what is

         20  your opinion?

         21                 MS. BANKS:  Well I concur with all

         22  that has been said.  But I just want to also keep us

         23  well aware of the fact of the glass ceiling in terms

         24  of gender equity.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Can you
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          2  explain that?

          3                 MS. BANKS:  Well for years women have

          4  struggled, both black, white and whatever, to have

          5  their rights respected in all areas.  And it

          6  doesn't, this has now moved into our highest policy

          7  Board, that is what I feel.  And I think she had two

          8  strikes against her, first one I think is the fact

          9  that she was a female, and the second was the fact

         10  that she was Black.

         11                 Surely it cannot be because you would

         12  not be sitting there, I do not care what they say

         13  about you, if you could not play on the correct

         14  teams or some teams.  But who wants a yes man, you

         15  want somebody who can think, and certainly, Dr.

         16  Sanford thinks and she is also consistent, and she

         17  is passionate about making sure that all of our

         18  children are educated and that all schools get the

         19  same kind of resources they need in order to

         20  succeed.

         21                 I cannot for the life of me

         22  understand how this could have happened, except the

         23  things that you suggested did come into play.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Those two

         25  things?
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          2                 MS. BANKS:  Yes.

          3                 MS. DOPSON:  In my opinion, it was

          4  pure, sheer racism.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Just that?

          6                 MS. DOPSON:  No, and a lack of

          7  understanding love and concern for the youngsters

          8  that are in the public education system.  Because if

          9  that concern had been, if that had been important to

         10  the Board of Regents, then the Chancellor would be

         11  Dr. Adelaid Sanford.  So it is very obvious to me

         12  that the most overriding factor was racism and a

         13  lack of concern for our youngsters.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I thank the

         15  three of you for your answers.  I just want to make

         16  a comment.  You said before that a lot of people in

         17  New York City think that Mayor Giuliani did a great

         18  job.  Some people believe that.  I am one of those

         19  people who do not believe that.

         20                 MS. FRANCE- DANIELS:  Me too, thank

         21  you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         23  Bye, bye.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

         25  much, please, remain seated.  We are joined by
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          2  Council Member Gale Brewer, we want to welcome her,

          3  thank you, Gale, for coming.  And we want to here

          4  now from Council Member Bill Perkins.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

          6  very much, Mr. Chairman, and I want to thank you for

          7  your testimony.

          8                 Leadership is very often it's a

          9  matter of symbolism as well as substance in terms of

         10  making a difference, in terms of moving an agenda.

         11  And obviously having an African- American woman in a

         12  leadership position is a message far beyond just

         13  African American young girls or the young ladies,

         14  but also in terms of women, period.  That to a

         15  significant extent is responsive to the needs of the

         16  system.

         17                 And then on a substantive level the

         18  testimony that was presented to us represents some

         19  rather extraordinary accomplishments, particularly,

         20  as I recall the focusing for one of the most

         21  significant times on what do real SURR School

         22  situation was in New York State, and particularly as

         23  it was manifest in New York City.  That very

         24  peculiar place by comparison to the other parts of

         25  the State in terms of that problem.
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          2                 Also taking the Regents on the road,

          3  being able to make government transparent, make

          4  government accessible was an exciting concept, was

          5  an exciting idea that I recall when I was, to some

          6  extent, involved with the Education Committee of the

          7  State Assembly.  The notion of leaving no child

          8  behind, that is not talking about being left back,

          9  that is talking about being embraced, even if,

         10  perhaps, you cannot move forward as far or as fast

         11  as you would like.  It is a very revolutionary kind

         12  of concept for our time because very often the

         13  children felt as if they were not a part of what was

         14  going on, and by the way, parents felt that way as

         15  well.  So it is like, we are leaving no child left

         16  behind, and no child or parent left behind.

         17                 Then the whole idea of being

         18  democratic and provided some sort of gender equity,

         19  these were ideas that I know were part of the resume

         20  in a substantive way, as well as in a symbolic way

         21  for the leadership of Dr. Sanford.  That has been

         22  rejected, it has been rejected in a very foul way,

         23  as your testimony illustrates.

         24                 And I want to now hear from you what

         25  the implications, what are the potential
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          2  implications of that rejection when it comes to

          3  those what could truly be accomplished in our

          4  system?  What is being said by that type of

          5  substantive and symbolic rejection?

          6                 MS. BANKS:  One of the things, I can

          7  only speak for what I felt and for those I spoke

          8  with, all right.  It's like if you have a chief that

          9  you have looked up to, a role model that has set a

         10  pace that living a so- called democratic country and

         11  a democratic state that has moved ahead very, you

         12  know, there are people you can put in a position and

         13  they are there and they draw their salaries, they

         14  come and they do what is expected of them. But when

         15  you have somebody who is working 24/24, bringing

         16  other people aboard, making us passionate about

         17  education in a way that, I do not think I have ever

         18  been before, knows the importance of parent

         19  involvement, not parent leadership.  There is a

         20  difference between parent leadership and parent

         21  involvement.  And you check any school that has been

         22  very successful, you will find parent involvement.

         23  Okay.  That is another whole conversation.

         24                 But this Chancellor knows the

         25  difference between the two.  A lot of money goes out
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          2  for parent leadership, but they will not put into

          3  true parent involvement so that parents can feel

          4  acceptable, go to the parent- friendly schools.

          5                 I think because, as one of the other

          6  speakers here said, that the other thing that she

          7  was concerned about is they know her passion for all

          8  children, all parents, all teachers, being at the

          9  level of which they can do their best, in putting

         10  her energies into seeing that that work.  I think

         11  they just felt that it should not happen, because

         12  the face of the population of which is almost a

         13  million or more students that we are now educating

         14  has now changed.  And it is now predominantly many

         15  races, many nationalities, which makes the Caucasian

         16  race also an ethnic group, okay, to be considered.

         17  I do not think they have ever considered themselves,

         18  but if you come from another country and you here a

         19  Caucasian speak, they have an accent.  So that they

         20  are also an ethnic group, but it is largely the

         21  minority, so- called minority groups that are there

         22  now.

         23                 You have to be able to educate

         24  everybody, if you want this country, this nation,

         25  this state to succeed.  And with us demonstrating
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          2  the ability of somebody to come on aborad and jump

          3  over a qualified person with the tradition of never

          4  having done that before, of never having allowed a

          5  female to even get as far, you know, to get into

          6  that position, you really have to say, my hat is off

          7  to you as a Council body that is taking this under

          8  consideration and I wish you the best.

          9                 MS. FRANCE- DANIELS:  I would just

         10  like to say that, I think it is really very, very

         11  sad, it's extremely sad.  And that is because we

         12  know that most of the children in New York City, at

         13  least, are children of color.  And we know that the

         14  school system, the system does not fair too well.  I

         15  mean, children, our children in the United States of

         16  America basically do not do half as well as in a lot

         17  of other countries.  And we talk about how great we

         18  are, but we really are failing in terms of what we

         19  are doing with our children in our school system

         20  throughout the nation.

         21                 But to think that there was an

         22  opportunity, a golden opportunity was lost in not

         23  selecting Regent Sanford.  Because what it would

         24  have meant to see someone in that position, the

         25  motivation it would have brought and the kinds of
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          2  initiatives and the way she has already shown

          3  working with people, we could have turned around the

          4  system, we could have helped these children.  There

          5  is something when you see somebody that is really

          6  committed to you and you feel that they really care,

          7  you act differently.

          8                 And I mean as Council people you know

          9  that when you work with your constituents they

         10  appreciate it, there is a difference that goes on,

         11  there is something that happens.  And that was

         12  missed, and we really could have helped children by

         13  choosing the right Chancellor, and we did not do

         14  that.  It was a golden opportunity that was missed

         15  and that is really the saddest thing.

         16                 It is awful what happened and how

         17  they disrespected her and disregarded her.  But what

         18  it could have meant for education in this City for

         19  our children is the greatest travesty, really.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Right.

         21                 MS. DOPSON:  The implications for me,

         22  and I think I am fairly average, so I think I can

         23  speak for the average African American, is that,

         24  although this society places tremendous importance

         25  upon education, that if you are a person of color or
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          2  if you are a person of African Ancestry, you can

          3  educate yourself in the finest institutions.  You

          4  can qualify yourself, you can work diligently in

          5  educational organizations, in your community, in

          6  your schools, you can be a top level principal you

          7  can turn a school around, you can promote laws and

          8  resolutions and all sorts of things that would help

          9  your community and those that seek an education from

         10  your community.

         11                 But if you are a person of color, you

         12  are circumscribed by that color no matter how

         13  educated you are, no matter how hard you work, you

         14  will bump that glass ceiling, and you can go no

         15  further.  I think it is a terrible implication, but

         16  it is one that is deeply felt, not just by me, but

         17  by everyone that is aware of Regent Sanford's

         18  accomplishments in the field of education, and by

         19  the lives of those she has touched and she has

         20  touched so very many.  I think the implications are

         21  that racism is alive and well in New York City.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         23  very much, and for your response and your testimony

         24  and for the work that you do in your respective

         25  arenas.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Council Member

          3  Seabrook.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Good

          5  morning, and thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.  And

          6  to just some questions that I have, because I think

          7  it is important that we somewhat understand this

          8  whole concept of the Board of Regents, which has

          9  been the best kept secret in our communities for

         10  many, many years.

         11                 Are you aware, Ms., any of you, who

         12  Dr. Sanford replaced on the Board of Regents?

         13                 MS. DOPSON:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Who is that

         15  person she replaced?

         16                 MS. DOPSON:  Dr. Clarke.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Dr. Clarke.

         18    And at that time how many African- Americans was

         19  on the Board of Regents?

         20                 MS. DOPSON:  He was the only one.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  He was the

         22  only one.  And Dr. Clarke had a historical

         23  background with his documentation that led to,

         24  around this Board of Education.  Dr. (sic) Dopson,

         25  you raised a question that the Chancellor had said
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          2  that Dr. Sanford was not a team player.  Is that

          3  correct?

          4                 MS. DOPSON:  Yes, I am not a Doctor,

          5  I just hang around with people with Doctorates, but

          6  I do not have one myself.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Well I'm

          8  qualified to give you one.

          9                 MS. DOPSON:  Okay.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  You have

         11  worked hard in this community, I can do that.

         12                 MS. DOPSON:  That was the

         13  implication.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Are you

         15  aware that there was a meeting that was held with

         16  Dr. Clarke with members of the Black and Puerto

         17  Rican Caucus and members, African- Americans who

         18  were members of the Education Committee in Dr.

         19  Clarke's departure from the Board?  He met with us,

         20  I was a member of the Education Committee and the

         21  Caucus, and he met with us.  Are you aware of a

         22  meeting that he had with the Black members?

         23                 MS. DOPSON:  I am not.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  You are

         25  not.  Okay.  Well let me just give you, Dr. Clarke
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          2  made a statement to us that he had failed, he had

          3  failed us because he had a mission and the things

          4  that could have been done.  And he said, I failed,

          5  he broke down and he said that.  And members of the

          6  Caucus heard that, and members of the Caucus began

          7  to say that we had to talk about a replacement for

          8  Dr. Clarke.  And so we interviewed a person to

          9  replace Dr. Clarke, there were many who came.  And

         10  one of the questions that was asked by Deputy

         11  Speaker Arthur Eve at the time of a candidate, Dr.

         12  Sanford, was about shaking up the Board of Regents,

         13  and not being a part of that team that had failed

         14  our children.  In fact, in paraphrasing and quoting

         15  the Deputy Speaker, he said, those bad eggs, that is

         16  what he called them.  And I think there was a

         17  response from the candidate that said that her

         18  mission and goal and accomplishment was for those

         19  children and shining a light where it had never been

         20  shined before.

         21                 And so, and if you go back and get

         22  the records of when she was nominated on the floor,

         23  each Caucus member stated that the Regents will

         24  never be the same again and should not be the same

         25  because it had neglected our children.  And so we
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          2  voted with a commitment for her not to be a team

          3  player on a losing team, so that was our vote,

          4  because she had to create a new team.  And it gave

          5  us, do you know after Dr. Sanford was on, we

          6  selected a number of other African- Americans and

          7  the replacement of Latinos on the Board of Regents,

          8  because there was a Jim Crow system, they had one

          9  Latino and one Black.  And so whenever there was a

         10  replacement that is what they would do.  But we

         11  decided to make that change.

         12                 So the team effort and people need to

         13  understand that Dr. Sanford was not to participate

         14  with a losing team.  I am going to be finished in a

         15  few minutes, Mr. Chair, in a losing team. So I think

         16  that that team stuff need to be clarified very clear

         17  she was coming with a new team, and to bring a new

         18  mission.

         19                 Secondly, had there ever been a woman

         20  Chancellor at the Board of Regents?

         21                 ALL:  No.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  There has

         23  never been a woman Chancellor.  There had never been

         24  an African- American Chancellor to your knowledge?

         25                 ALL:  No.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Mr.

          3  Bennett's, any of you know his occupation?

          4                 MS. DOPSON:  Who?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Mr.

          6  Bennett, the new Chancellor.

          7                 MS. DOPSON:  No.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Anybody

          9  know his occupation?

         10                 MS. DOPSON:  No, I do not know his

         11  occupation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Okay.  Well

         13  most of the Regents and Chairs who have been, they

         14  have been prominent lawyers, so there is a class and

         15  a very successful business people, lawyers, et

         16  cetera.  So that should not be taken away from this

         17  argument, because it is rare that you get people who

         18  are teachers and principals and so forth.  So we

         19  need to keep that in focus as well.

         20                 So there has never been a person of

         21  color, there has never been a person who started out

         22  like we started out, and there never has been a

         23  woman.  So, Mr. Chairman, I guess race, class and

         24  gender is real, so we are not kidding ourselves

         25  about that.
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          2                 The other point that I wanted to

          3  raise is, if we look, and in your opinion, prior to

          4  Dr. Sanford's arrival on the Board of Regents, and

          5  the three of you can answer, what was your

          6  participation and involvement of which you thought

          7  was the Regents and your involvement and how your

          8  participation with the Regents prior to Dr. Sanford?

          9                 MS. DOPSON:  Mr. Seabrook, I had

         10  almost no knowledge or information about the Board

         11  of Regents, what it stood for, what it was supposed

         12  to be responsible for, its relationship to the

         13  education system.  It was almost a total mystery to

         14  me until Regents Sanford became involved as a

         15  Regent, and later as a Vice Chancellor.

         16                 MS. FRANCE DANIELS:  That applies to

         17  me also.  And Regent Sanford went out of her way to

         18  help educate the community as to what the Regents

         19  were, what they are, what they do, who they are.  As

         20  a matter of fact, I was approached and we had a

         21  meeting at York College to bring the community out

         22  for her to come and speak to the community to say

         23  what the Regents are.  Because there was the

         24  understanding that you must understand a system.

         25  You know, one of the problems are that people are
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          2  not well enough informed, they do not participate

          3  enough.  She took the step to make sure that she

          4  came to the community and said, this is what the

          5  Regents is.  And she did not just do that at York

          6  College, I know she did it at other places.

          7                 So folks did not know, they did not

          8  have a clue. These are the folks who make all the

          9  decisions for the whole State, you know.  So no,

         10  people were not informed in our communities as to

         11  what they were, most of us, and I know I was not

         12  personally, until Regent Sanford came along.

         13                 MS. BANKS:  In answer to your

         14  question, I think I came to New York in 1957, 1958

         15  educated through the Gary Indiana Washington, D.C.

         16  School systems, public school systems, and then into

         17  graduate school, I came here to attend graduate

         18  school, NYU, and became very involved through the

         19  Guy Brewer Democratic Party and others.  So I am an

         20  involved person, and yet, with all of that I did not

         21  know the Regents except as an exam.  And that is why

         22  I started my whole statement with that.  And I, my

         23  people who I affiliated with socially and otherwise

         24  are people who are interested in education, and most

         25  of them still, our children and all knew about a
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          2  Regents exam.

          3                 So it was after I heard about Dr.

          4  Clarke's departure, and that Adelaid had been,

          5  Adelaid Sanford had been, Dr. Sanford had been voted

          6  to come on, I kind of had heard about her reputation

          7  to some extent and kind of felt there was going to

          8  be a change.  I did not know about the history that

          9  you shared with us, I was glad to hear that.

         10                 And indeed it was with her coming

         11  aboard that people began to know that the Regents

         12  was what 16 or 18 people who sit around a table and

         13  make major decisions about what is going to happen

         14  in the whole State of New York.  And because the

         15  Social Studies and History was being reviewed by the

         16  Regents at the time, I just felt that they needed to

         17  know who their constituents were. And so I

         18  formulated the NYIEC Group, and for 10 months out of

         19  12, as I said in the beginning, I took parents, I

         20  took students from the 9th grade up and honor

         21  students from middle school up, to the Regents once

         22  a month to sit in the alcove, even though we could

         23  not speak to them, but to hear.

         24                 In the beginning we were not received

         25  well, in fact, we were told we could not even go in.
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          2    But having some understanding of the law and

          3  public meetings, having served on the School Board

          4  for 10 years, some time back, I decided we would go

          5  in, and so we did, and there were seats there, we

          6  did sit down.  So we went from that kind of

          7  reception to being very received by this end of the

          8  seventh year when the review had been finished, and

          9  our whole goal was to try to get them to make the

         10  Social Studies and History Curriculum be one, not

         11  that Euro- centric (sic) or Afro centric (sic), but

         12  I'm quoting, making up a word, truth- centric (sic),

         13  so that all people who contributed to making this a

         14  great nation would be represented.  Toward that end,

         15  if you open the book, you will see some pictures, at

         16  least some inkling, some, we are there, all of us to

         17  some extent.

         18                 But it was through the passion, as I

         19  have said before, and the concern that Dr. Sanford

         20  has shown for all people, all children.  That it was

         21  not easy to bring a bus load of people, the unions

         22  backed me, all different organizations, if you look

         23  at the bottom of my sheet, we are backed by

         24  organizations, and it was through the unions and the

         25  different other organizations, churches,
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          2  fraternities, sororities, I took buses from any

          3  place I could get them.  Political groups gave them

          4  to me, and some private people, actually, gave buses

          5  over the seven years that we took buses there.

          6  And we now have a representative who attends every

          7  meeting that is in Albany and we have put out a

          8  letter called, "The Regents."

          9                 Now all of this came out because of

         10  us being educated as to who the Regents are and how

         11  important they are to what happens in our individual

         12  states, because it starts there, before it goes to

         13  the legislators and then it goes down to the

         14  individual cities.

         15                 And New York City really needs to

         16  have a concerned person, and it is wonderful that

         17  they are getting to an educator to go into that

         18  position, I thought.  And we were all hurt when we

         19  saw this happen, because we said, at last we are

         20  going to get someone there who knows what needs to

         21  be done, who has experienced having a school that

         22  was at the bottom and bringing it to the top, and it

         23  is now at the top.  What a crush it is to, not just

         24  people of color, I think to many other people who

         25  are true Democratic Americans who saw and knows what
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          2  has happened, we are not ignorant.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Just a

          4  final question, do any of you know of any of the

          5  Board of Regents members prior to Dr. Sanford, who

          6  had actually visited the public schools in New York

          7  City?  Do you know the number of them?

          8                 MS. DOPSON:  No.

          9                 MS. FRANCE- DANIELS:  But some of

         10  them did visit schools, some Regents have visited

         11  schools.  But I - -

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Prior to

         13  Dr. Sanford in public schools in New York City?

         14                 MS. FRANCE- DANIELS:  Oh, prior to

         15  her?

         16                 MS. BANKS:  See, he said prior.

         17                 MS. FRANCE- DANIELS:  No, well see

         18  there is a difference in visiting schools.  I mean

         19  Regents visit schools, but Regents do not

         20  necessarily reach out to communities and actually

         21  have gatherings where you sit down and bring

         22  community, the people in.  I mean Regent Sanford had

         23  people sitting who were from business, health,

         24  different departments, agencies, parents, parent

         25  groups, you name it, all of these folks were coming
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          2  together.  And that kind of outreach has never been

          3  done.  Because the thing is what happens too often,

          4  across the board, is this group is doing this, and

          5  this one is doing this, and this is doing this, and

          6  folks do not talk to each other, so you always have

          7  duplication.  And so this was one of, I mean she

          8  just really did some initiatives that nobody else

          9  had ever done, and part of that is because she is

         10  caring, and part because she is an educator and she

         11  understands versus people who get into these

         12  positions, who do not have a clue, they are lawyers,

         13  they are business types.  That does not mean, there

         14  is more to that, there has to be some human

         15  component that is added to it.

         16                 So even though people may have come

         17  into schools, because Regents will go to a school

         18  that says it is doing well and they look at the

         19  school, but that is not the same as really pulling

         20  people together and having the parents sit in there

         21  with these other people and folks getting to

         22  understand that they can work together and talk

         23  together.

         24                 So I do not think that was ever done

         25  before.
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          2                 MS. DOPSON:  During the 10 years that

          3  I worked at Junior High School 8, there has never

          4  been a visit to that school by the Queens Regent.  I

          5  cannot speak for others, but I can speak for the

          6  school where I am located.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  And none of

          8  the Regents who we interviewed prior to Dr. Sanford

          9  had ever visited any of the schools.

         10                 MS. BANKS: That is what I know.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Me too.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

         14  much for your testimony.  I want to say this, just

         15  to give you a sense of how we will be proceeding.

         16  We have been joined by Council Member, and honored

         17  to have been joined by Council Member Al Vann, who

         18  is the prime sponsor of Resolution 250, and we want

         19  to welcome Council Member Vann.  And before we take

         20  our vote today, we will definitely be hearing from

         21  Council Member Vann.

         22                 We would like to hear from two more

         23  panelists, and then Dr. Sanford, herself, and then

         24  Assemblyman (sic) Vann.  Then we will take the vote

         25  and then continue hearing testimony, even after the
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          2  vote.  We want to make sure that everybody gets a

          3  hearing in.

          4                 But I want to share this with you

          5  before you depart, just so that you know we have

          6  sent the letters out to the Regents in a very timely

          7  fashion.  We got a reply from the State Education

          8  Department, the University of the State of New York,

          9  from Albany. From the Counsel and Deputy

         10  Commissioner for Legal Affairs, Gary Altmann,

         11  Esquire, Legislative Counsel for the City Council

         12  sent the letter inviting the Chancellor Bennett.

         13                 And the return reply was:

         14                  "Dear Mr. Altmann:

         15                 I write on behalf of the Chancellor

         16  of the Board of Regents, Robert Bennett, in response

         17  to your letter to him of June 3rd."  So they got the

         18  letters by June 3rd, 2002.  "Chancellor Bennett will

         19  not attend the hearing of the Committee of Higher

         20  Education scheduled for June 14th, 2002.

         21                 Please be advised that the procedure

         22  used by the Board of Regents to select Regent

         23  Bennett as Chancellor was in all respects proper and

         24  complied with Education Law 203 and 8NYCRR3.1.

         25                 Sincerely,
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          2                 Kathy A. Ahearn"

          3                 I just want to let you all known that

          4  we got that letter from them, and other Regents had

          5  called and gave excuses as to why they could not be

          6  here today.

          7                 And we will be sending a letter on

          8  behalf of this Committee expressing our feelings

          9  about their lack of interest or participation in

         10  such a hearing of great importance.

         11                 I want to thank you very much for

         12  your testimony.

         13                 MS. DOPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Barron.

         14  And we believe that if you had gotten that letter in

         15  April of 2002, the response would have still been

         16  the same.  Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you.

         18                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our next witness is a

         19  panel of two persons, Dr. Donald Smith and Ms.

         20  Phyllis Norman.

         21                 Please raise your right hand?  Do you

         22  each swear independently that the testimony you are

         23  about to provide before this Committee is the whole

         24  truth and to the best of your knowledge?

         25                 ALL:  I do.
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          2                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please state your name

          3  and organization before you begin your testimony for

          4  the record?  And we will start with Mr. Smith, Dr.

          5  Smith.  Thank you.

          6                 DR. SMITH:  I am Donald H. Smith, a

          7  past president of the National Alliance of Black

          8  School Educators, four years Chair of the Board of

          9  Education's Commission of Students of African

         10  Descent.  I do not represent either of those

         11  organizations, I am here testifying for myself.

         12                 Honorable Chairperson Barron,

         13  Honorable members of the New York City Council

         14  Committee on Higher Education:  In my senior year at

         15  the University of Illinois, Clarice Davis was

         16  elected Homecoming Queen.  The first African-

         17  American Queen of Illinois and the first in the big

         18  ten.  It was my honor to be her escort for that

         19  weekend.  At the Pep Rally the night before the big

         20  game, Mel Allen the fame Yankee broadcaster was, as

         21  usual, the Master of Ceremonies, only this time he

         22  violated tradition and failed to kiss the beautiful

         23  Black Queen.

         24                 Some years later, my friend, Dr.

         25  Joseph McMillan was Deputy Superintendent of Schools
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          2  in Grand Rapids, Michigan.  The hometown of then

          3  Congressman Gerald Ford, later to become Vice

          4  President and President of the United States.  By

          5  tradition when the Superintendent retired, the

          6  Deputy always became Superintendent, but not that

          7  time.  Dr. McMillan, an excellent administrator of

          8  African descent was bypassed, a so- called national

          9  search was conducted and a white man was elected

         10  Superintendent.

         11                 A former provost of Stanford

         12  University would probably say, that was many years

         13  ago and we should forget the past and move on.  But

         14  the past is present, we have never moved beyond the

         15  practice of traditions and rules being honored when

         16  it suits the ruling class, when these traditions and

         17  rules protect their positions of undeserved

         18  privilege.  But when those without power, no matter

         19  how talented or deserving attempt to use the same

         20  traditions and rules to their benefit, the powerful

         21  break the rules and ignore the traditions.

         22                 Maybe Conde (phonetic) has forgotten

         23  the episode when she was denied the right to board

         24  the overseas flight with her boss, President George

         25  Herbert Walker Bush, because traditionally only
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          2  white people, mostly men traveled with the

          3  President.

          4                 Now here we are in the year 2002,

          5  almost 50 years after the Brown Decision, asking,

          6  why the New York State Board of Regents chose to

          7  ignore tradition, to look past the Vice- Chancellor

          8  of African descent and to chose a white male to head

          9  the most powerful educational governing body in the

         10  United States?

         11                 When Adelaid Sanford was first

         12  elected unanimously to the Board of Regents, and I

         13  might mention for those who have forgotten, it was

         14  Al Vann who nominated her, who first picked her for

         15  that position.  I was asked by a New York Times

         16  reporter if I thought she was a worthy successor to

         17  the retiring Regent, Dr. Kenneth Clarke.  With

         18  incredulity, I responded that Mrs. Sanford was

         19  qualified to be the US Secretary of Education, the

         20  New York State Commissioner of Education, of the

         21  Chancellor of the Board of Regents.

         22                 Some years later, the New York

         23  Alliance of Black School Educators nominated her for

         24  Chancellor of the New York City Schools.  This

         25  brilliant graduate of Wellesley, former teacher and
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          2  principal, might have turned the New York City

          3  schools around decades ago, if former Mayor Koch and

          4  his Board of Education had been wise enough to

          5  select her.  Adelaid Sanford has the intellect of a

          6  genius.  Her compassion and commitment to all

          7  children, as well as her enormous success in

          8  educating children of poverty, combined with her

          9  consummate managerial skills make her almost unique

         10  in her qualifications.

         11                 Now in her third term as Regent, she

         12  has served with distinction, without benefit of a

         13  secretary or financial support from any

         14  organization, which many other Regents enjoy.

         15                 That the other members of the Board

         16  of Regents could recognize her quality and elect her

         17  Vice- Chancellor and only a short time later reject

         18  her for Chancellor, is a matter not only for this

         19  august body to deliberate, but also for the Regents

         20  themselves to delve deeply into their souls and ask,

         21  why?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We thank you for

         23  your testimony.

         24                 MS. NORMAN:  Good morning.  My name

         25  is Phyllis Norman.  I am a member of Concerned
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          2  Parents of Mount Vernon.  I want to thank this body

          3  for giving us an opportunity to speak.

          4                 I am not representing all parents,

          5  but I am a parent in a low- performing school

          6  district.  I happened to attend this hearing or the

          7  election process in March with a group of other

          8  parents from Mount Vernon.

          9                 I can only say that we went with an

         10  openness and expectation of seeing history made, we

         11  left with a feeling of hurt and frustration.  My

         12  feelings, and I think they were echoed by other

         13  members in the group that traveled with me, was that

         14  the vote had been made before we even got there.

         15  Although, when we arrived, it was a snowy morning,

         16  and I think it was held up to await members of the

         17  Board of Regents.  We still felt like there might be

         18  a chance that this honest, sincere, capable,

         19  wonderful woman might be elected.

         20                 What happened in that body was a

         21  disgrace.  It was a disgrace to us personally as

         22  parents, it was a disgrace to women, it was a

         23  disgrace to all children, and it was a disgrace to

         24  women of color.  I felt like I was observing a game

         25  being played out with notes being passed by children
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          2  who knew what they were going to do all along.

          3  Comments were being made that alluded to some

          4  impropriety, because I believe that the Legislative

          5  Body had in some way lobbied on behalf of this

          6  capable woman.  I felt like Dr. Sanford was being

          7  chastised publicly, it was hurtful, it created some

          8  sadness.  But she had a humility and an abominable

          9  spirit that allowed her to still conduct herself in

         10  a way that made me proud to be there and to be

         11  Black.

         12                 She has allowed parents to speak, she

         13  has allowed parents to participate, and it is in

         14  that vein that I speak.  I think that in most

         15  instances in public education, parents are not

         16  welcomed, they do not want to hear from us.  They

         17  only want to hear from those that they put at the

         18  table to speak.  Dr. Sanford opened the doors so

         19  that anyone can speak on behalf of children and

         20  steadfast advocate know what you are doing and know

         21  how to go about getting those ends met.

         22                 I think we have been disserved (sic).

         23    I am grateful that you all are investigating, and

         24  if there is anything that any of us can say or

         25  provide, who were in attendance, I welcome that
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          2  opportunity.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We thank you

          5  very much for your testimony.  Are there any

          6  comments, questions from my colleagues? Thank you

          7  very much.  Oh, excuse me, Council Member Lopez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  According to

          9  the minutes, the briefing papers that I have here,

         10  the vote was 12 to 4.

         11                 MS. NORMAN:  That is correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Correct.  Do

         13  you know who were the four people who voted for Dr.

         14  Sanford?

         15                 MS. NORMAN:  I do not know.  I do not

         16  know, I really do not.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  No?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  It is a secret

         19  ballot.

         20                 MS. NORMAN:  It is a secret ballot.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  But they did

         22  not make it public?  Because I choose to make my

         23  vote public, if I want to.

         24                 MS. NORMAN:  No, nothing was made

         25  public.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then we do not

          3  know, period.

          4                 MS. NORMAN:  We do not know who made

          5  the vote.  I do want to say one other thing.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I assume that

          7  one of the four is hers.

          8                 MS. NORMAN:  I made that assumption,

          9  and I also made the assumption that the Regent who

         10  placed her name in nomination, Regent Farley, and

         11  the other Regent, his name escapes me, Bowman, I

         12  believe, second.  I am not sure who the fourth vote

         13  may have been.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  From the

         15  members that are reported, how many of them are

         16  female?

         17                 MS. NORMAN:  Of those that were

         18  there?  Oh, God, I would say there were at least six

         19  females.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Six females.

         21                 MS. NORMAN:  At least six, I am

         22  trying to just go over it in my head, I do not know.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  We are talking

         24  about a body of 16.

         25                 MS. NORMAN:  Yes, we are.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay.

          3                 MS. NORMAN:  I think there are six or

          4  seven, maybe.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Females?

          6                 MS. NORMAN:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And she is the

          8  only African American?

          9                 MS. NORMAN: She is the only, no,

         10  Regent Farley is African- American and Regent - -

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  But Regent is

         12  a male?

         13                 MS. NORMAN:  No, Regent Farley, - -

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Oh, okay, I'm

         15  sorry.

         16                 MS. NORMAN: - -  is a female, a Black

         17  female.  And there was one male, Black Regent.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And I have

         19  seen in the papers in here that there is one Latino.

         20                 MS. NORMAN:  One Latino.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Only?

         22                 MS. NORMAN:  Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Lorraine

         24  Cortes- Vazquez.

         25                 MS. NORMAN:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Just to follow-

          5  up on Council Member Lopez's question.  We have the

          6  minutes to the meeting, I just want to read the

          7  Board members who were in attendance at that

          8  meeting.  It was: Carl T. Hayden, Chancellor, Dr.

          9  Adelaid Sanford, Vice- Chancellor, Diane McGiven,

         10  James C. Dawson, Robert Bennett, Robert Johnson,

         11  Anthony S. Bottar, Merryl H. Tisch, Ena L. Farley,

         12  Geraldine Chapey, Arnold Gardner, Harry Phillips,

         13  3rd, Joseph Bowman, Jr., an Lorraine Cortes-

         14  Vazquez.  Also present were the President of the

         15  University and Commissioner of Education Richard P.

         16  Mills, the Counsel and Deputy Commissioner for Legal

         17  Affairs, Katherine A. Ahearn, and the Secretary of

         18  the Board of Regents David Johnson.  Regent Saul B.

         19  Cohen and Regent Charlotte K. Frank were absent and

         20  excused.

         21                 DR. SMITH:  Mr. Chair, that is not

         22  correct, they were there.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  That is what we

         24  have.

         25                 MS. NORMAN:  They were all in
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          2  attendance.

          3                 DR. SMITH:  They were there.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  All of them?

          5                 MS. NORMAN:  Yes, the meeting was

          6  held so that, I believe, Regent Frank and Regent

          7  Tisch could arrive from New York City, so they

          8  arrived late.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Oh, okay.

         10                 MS. NORMAN:  I did want to add one

         11  other comment.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Let me just say

         13  this, these are the official minutes that they are

         14  sending out.

         15                 DR. SMITH:  Right, right.

         16                 MS. NORMAN:  Okay, and what they are

         17   - -

         18                 DR. SMITH:  Right, but there official

         19  minutes are not correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  That needs to be

         21  stated for the record that these are wrong.

         22                 MS. NORMAN:  They are incorrect.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  But that is the

         24  official minutes that they are sending to Committee.

         25                 MS. NORMAN:  One of the things that I
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          2  failed to say, is that when Chancellor Hayden spoke,

          3  one of the things he did say, you had asked a

          4  question of the other people before, one of the

          5  things he said was, you know, as to why he did not,

          6  I guess, recommend Dr. Sanford, he said something

          7  along the lines that she did not ask.  That is how I

          8  felt that she been chastised.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay.

         10                 MS. NORMAN:  She did not ask.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Can I ask one

         12  more question, I'm sorry.  I just want to

         13  understand, if were people in the public, when they

         14  took the vote, was people there at the time that

         15  they did that, or they went into an executive

         16  session?

         17                 MS. NORMAN:  The room was standing

         18  room only and it was right in the open public.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  The vote that

         20  was taken.

         21                 MS. NORMAN:  The vote that was taken,

         22  but it was taken by paper ballot.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Is it required

         24  to take this vote by paper ballot?

         25                 MS. NORMAN:  I do not know.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay.  It will

          3  be interesting for us to know that, Mr. Chairman, if

          4  it is a requirement to take the vote by paper

          5  ballot.  And the reason I am saying this is because

          6  I would like to know how my representative in that

          7  Board voted, and I am personally going to ask her,

          8  in regard of what is the participation of each and

          9  every one of these individuals. Particularly with

         10  anybody gave any particular indication of how they

         11  were planning to vote publicly?

         12                 MS. NORMAN:  No one said anything

         13  publicly.  But as someone witnessing body language

         14  and notes being passed back and forth among all the

         15  players, with the exception of, I dare say, the

         16  Vice- Chancellor, it was almost a foregoing

         17  conclusion that they were making up their minds, and

         18  that when the last two Regents arrived from New York

         19  City, they said, now we can hold the vote, and

         20  everybody was sort of doing the thumbs up.  You kind

         21  of felt like they already knew what they were going

         22  to do, and they were all in agreement.  That was the

         23  feeling.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  All right,

         25  thank you.
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          2                 DR. SMITH:  Mr. Chair, may I say one

          3  more thing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

          5  much.  Let's just make this correction, we did get a

          6  corrected version of the meetings, the full Board

          7  was present at that meeting.

          8                 DR. SMITH:  I would like to say two

          9  things.  With the exception of the work that Olivia

         10  Banks has done, which I think is very important,

         11  that taking buses so that the Regents could see the

         12  presence of people of African descent, the support

         13  that Regent Sanford has received has been more

         14  sentimental and emotional rather than financial and

         15  physical.  In those two areas the support has been

         16  sorely lacking, our community does not get out there

         17  behind her, and that is certainly a factor in what

         18  took place.  Because the Regents knew they had

         19  nobody to account to, they could do whatever they

         20  wanted to do.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  When you said

         22  that she did not receive any financial support.

         23                 DR. SMITH:  That is correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  What do you

         25  mean by that?  I need to understand this very clear,
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          2  because if what we are talking about is that the

          3  other Regent members receive financial support from

          4  any other institution, groups of people, I want to

          5  understand what this is about.  Because if what I am

          6  hearing is correct, I do not know Dr. Sanford, and I

          7  am right now feeling that I am lacking in something,

          8  and I do not like to feel like that.  Therefore, I

          9  am going to make it my business to get to know her.

         10                 But what I want to understand is,

         11  when you say that, that means that other people are

         12  getting financial support, that I understand the

         13  situation, can you explain that further?

         14                 DR. SMITH:  Yes, I said two things in

         15  my report, that she does not have a secretary, which

         16  is extraordinary for her to function with no

         17  clerical support.  And - -

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Is she

         19  entitled of that, as a Regent?

         20                 DR. SMITH:  No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  No, she is

         22  not.

         23                 DR. SMITH:  No.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  None of them

         25  are entitled to have a secretary?
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          2                 DR. SMITH:  But the point is - -

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I just want to

          4  know if she is treated differently to others?

          5                 DR. SMITH:  No, that was not my

          6  point.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay, thank

          8  you.

          9                 DR. SMITH:  My point was that most of

         10  the Regents, and I am not going to comment on any

         11  specific person, most of the Regents come from

         12  either wealth or they come from organizations that

         13  provide all of the structural support they need.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I see, I got

         15  it.

         16                 DR. SMITH:  And also, they provide

         17  the money that these Regents need to do what they

         18  have to do.  She does not get any support from any

         19  organization, financially.  I mean now and then an

         20  organization, such as the New York Alliance might be

         21  able to do something, but there is no sustain

         22  support for her.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay.

         24                 DR. SMITH:  And she has even on

         25  occasion been denied the funds to attend an
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          2  important conference or an important meeting related

          3  to our people.  That is outrageous, she should not

          4  have to be turned down.  And there ought to be

          5  organizations of African descent that pay for

          6  anything she needs at any time.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

          9  very much.  Before I call on Council Member Perkins

         10  to pursue the questioning, I want to welcome to the

         11  Chambers, IS 59 from Queens, give them a big hand

         12  clap, we are so glad that you could attend this

         13  hearing.  You look so smart and beautiful, we want

         14  to let you know that we are having a very, very

         15  important hearing today.  My name is Council Member

         16  Charles Barron, and this is the Committee on Higher

         17  Education.  So you came at very timely moment we are

         18  discussing education policy, and pretty soon the

         19  next testimony you will hear from is Dr., Regent Dr.

         20  Adelaid Sanford, and she is the most qualified woman

         21  of African Ancestry who was the Vice- Chancellor,

         22  still is the Vice Chancellor of the Board of

         23  Regents, and she could have become the first

         24  African- American woman to be Chancellor of a

         25  powerful University of Board of Regents, and she was
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          2  denied that opportunity and passed over by a white

          3  male who was in a lower position than her on the

          4  Board of Regents.  So that is why we are having this

          5  hearing to find out why did that happen?  We are

          6  kind of confused and we want to clear up the

          7  confusion just to see why would they do such a thing

          8  for someone who is so qualified for a position.  So

          9  we brought people in to testify about who she is,

         10  and what her accomplishments were.  And we have a

         11  resolution that we are also going to vote on, and

         12  just to find out more about the Regents and how it

         13  works and the process.

         14                 So once again, we thank you for

         15  coming, and they are from Council Member James

         16  Sanders' District in Queens.  So we thank you, once

         17  again.  Give them another hand clap, we thank you so

         18  much for being with us.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Mr. Chair, Mr.

         20  Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Councilwoman.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Can you ask

         23  them how many of them know what the Regent Board is,

         24  to see if they know?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Just make my
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          2  life easy, Council Member Lopez.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Just by

          4  raising their hand.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  How many of you,

          6  just raise your hand, if you know what the

          7  responsibilities are of the Board of Regents from

          8  the State?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And do not

         10  feel embarrassed if you do not know, we just need to

         11  know.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well do not feel

         13  bad, you know why that is an interesting question,

         14  because neither do we.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  That is

         16  fascinating.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And that is why

         18  we are having this hearing so we can find out more

         19  about it.  But two people do know.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Two people do

         21  know, that is fascinating, right?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well thank you

         23  very much.  I would like to meet both of you

         24  afterwards, so you can tell me more about that.

         25  Because that is why we are having this hearing, so
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          2  we can find out as well.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Get their

          4  names.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Make sure you

          6  get their names, they are not going to get away with

          7  that.  You see they raised their hand, they got all

          8  this attention, you are going to pay for that.  We

          9  will see you afterwards.

         10                 Council Member Perkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         12  very much, Mr. Chairman.  Dr. Smith, I want to thank

         13  you for your overview, the historical overview of

         14  this pattern of preventing success in breaking

         15  tradition in support of, or against us, against

         16  African Americans, against women.  At those critical

         17  moments when significant opportunities and changes

         18  can take place, and putting the experience of Dr.

         19  Sanford in that context is very, very important for

         20  us to understand that this is not an isolated

         21  instance of discrimination or of foul play, that

         22  this has historical precedence, not just in the

         23  educational arena, but in other arenas as well.

         24                 And generally, as you point out,

         25  there are things at stake, there are powers and
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          2  other kinds of resources and opportunities at stake,

          3  which is why this comes into play.  And I was

          4  wondering if you could, to some extent, share with

          5  us what is at stake as to why Dr. Sanford had to be

          6  stopped, what is at stake with regard to the powers

          7  of the Regents, with regard to what the Regents

          8  does, et cetera, that makes it compelling that the

          9  change not take place?

         10                 DR. SMITH:  Well, let me just cite

         11  two examples. One is related to what most of you

         12  know as the curriculum of inclusion.  She was not a

         13  part of that Task Force, but she was the Godmother

         14  that caused that Task Force to come into being.

         15                 What would happen in New York State

         16  if the curriculum were rewritten to tell the truth

         17  about the accomplishments and achievements of people

         18  African descent, and to rid people of African

         19  descent of feelings of inferiority?  What would

         20  happen?  There would be a different configuration of

         21  who controls our lives and who controls our State.

         22  Let's not fail to understand how important

         23  curriculum is, and what it does in the schools to

         24  depict some as masters and others as servants, and

         25  that still goes on.
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          2                 So if she had been successful in

          3  doing that, it would have been the most significant

          4  achievement in the history of American education.

          5  That is one.

          6                 The second, not long after she came

          7  onto the Board of Regents, Deputy Speaker Arthur Eve

          8  was conducting a hearing on dropouts.  I was

          9  fortunate to be asked to testify, and later by the

         10  Deputy Speaker to Chair his Commission on Dropouts

         11  in New York State.  The report that we produced gave

         12  the ammunition for Regent Sanford to get rid of the

         13  Commissioner of Education, who had done nothing

         14  about New York City and children of color in New

         15  York City. And see, she is so skilled, she does not

         16  have to antagonize, she knows how to ask questions,

         17  the answer to which will cause people to fall down

         18  on their knees, she knows how to do that.

         19                 And so not only was this a case of

         20  removing the Commissioner of Education, but Mario

         21  Cuomo, who was the Governor, for the first time in

         22  the history of New York State, in his State of the

         23  State Address talked about dropouts.  Do you

         24  understand?

         25                 This lady has power in her thinking,
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          2  in the people who believe in her, she just does not

          3  have enough people out there who are giving their

          4  bodies and their money to support her.  But she has

          5  great power, and that, certainly, is known and is

          6  understandably feared.  It ought to be feared.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

         10  much for your testimony, thank you.

         11                 We are going to continue our

         12  hearings.  I also want to acknowledge the CUNY

         13  students that are with us, if you could please

         14  stand, we always are grateful for the CUNY students

         15  that have come to be a part of this hearing.  Those

         16  are my favorites, I do not let anybody mess with

         17  CUNY.

         18                 We are, now at this point, we are

         19  going to hear, and we are most honored, most

         20  honored, to hear testimony now, from Dr. Adelaid

         21  Sanford, and we thank you so much for your

         22  commitment and contributions.

         23                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please raise your right

         24  hand?  Do you swear that the testimony you are about

         25  to provide before this Committee is the whole truth
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          2  and to the best of your knowledge?

          3                 DR. SANFORD:  I do.

          4                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please state your name

          5  and organization for the record?  Thank you.

          6                 DR. SANFORD:  I am Adelaid Louvenia

          7  Hines Sanford, wife, mother, grandmother, and Vice-

          8  Chancellor of the Board of Regents of the University

          9  of the State of New York.

         10                 I certainly am deeply grateful to

         11  Councilman Barron and the members of the Higher Ed

         12  Committee for this opportunity, and am

         13  overwhelmingly grateful to, now Councilman Vann, who

         14  was Assemblyman Vann and was responsible for my

         15  becoming a member of the Board of Regents.  I thank

         16  each of you and I certainly thank each person who

         17  has come today to bear witness to the work that they

         18  have done with me.  It was not something that I did,

         19  there was tremendous support for the work, and I

         20  thank each one of them for being here today.  And I

         21  hope that my accounting of my stewardship, who will

         22  meet your expectations.

         23                 In 1985 I retired from the Board of

         24  Education of the City of New York after having

         25  served as a principal for 19 years, and after having
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          2  been in the same school for 29 years.  I retired for

          3  two reasons:  I had been asked by the President of

          4  the National Alliance of Black School Educators, Dr.

          5  Donald Smith, to Chair the first International

          6  Conference on the Education of Black People, and

          7  also, I retired, because there were five licensed

          8  principals on the staff of my school.  People that I

          9  had nurtured, supported and helped them to pass the

         10  highest exam for principalship in the City. And I

         11  felt that it was necessary for me to step aside in

         12  order for them to assume the positions that they

         13  held.

         14                 And I would like to comment that for

         15  30 years there have only been three prinicipals in

         16  that school, and those three principals all served

         17  in that school together at the same time.  It is

         18  that kind of background, coupled with the statement

         19  that Dr. Kenneth Clarke made at his retirement

         20  party, which Councilman Seabrook has referred to.  I

         21  was there at that meeting, at Assemblyman Vann's

         22  invitation, when this giant of a man said that he

         23  had been a failure.  That there were less people of

         24  African Ancestry on the Department's staff than when

         25  he came, and that children of color were faring less
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          2  well in the system.

          3                 At that time, I was a visiting

          4  practitioner at the Harvard Graduate School of

          5  Education, having been asked to come to assume that

          6  Directorship of that facility at Harvard.  But when

          7  I heard Dr. Clarke make that statement, knowing his

          8  history, I felt that perhaps he had not been

          9  successful because he was a higher ed institutional

         10  person.  And my experience over the 35 years that I

         11  had been in public education at that time, showed me

         12  that we lose the children in elementary, middle and

         13  secondary schools.  And so I thought that perhaps

         14  there was something that I could contribute.       So

         15  I left Harvard, came back to New York City, I was

         16  living in Cambridge at that time, to accept that

         17  enormous responsibility because of the power of the

         18  need that I knew existed, and also because at the

         19  Crispus Attucks School, we had modeled, not only

         20  pupil success, we had no uncertified teachers in our

         21  school.  We had tremendous parent involvement to the

         22  extent that we had to sometimes limit the number of

         23  parents who could come in to volunteer.  We took

         24  trips all over with parents, and parents became

         25  teachers, parents became prinicipals, going through
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          2  the system.  So I guess I was audacious enough to

          3  believe that perhaps there some models there, which

          4  could be replicated.

          5                 And so in 1986 I was unanimously

          6  elected to serve on the Board of Regents, and for

          7  the first seven years into the second seven years, I

          8  gave up my personal consultancy, prior to becoming a

          9  Regent, I worked as a private consultant in school

         10  systems, in libraries, in museums and in colleges

         11  and universities across the State and across the

         12  nation.  I was told by the Ethics Committee that I

         13  could no longer work in that capacity in New York

         14  State as a Regent.  So I gave up that private

         15  consultancy.  Had I been a lawyer or a

         16  businessperson, I would not have had to give up my

         17  right to earn a living.  And it was my husband and

         18  my decision that we would make that sacrifice for a

         19  period of time, hoping that there could be

         20  substantive change, because we knew how it had been

         21  done.  He had been a principal in Harlem, his school

         22  was the top school.  Our school was the top school

         23  in 16, and now after I have been gone since 1985,

         24  they are two points above the gifted school in the

         25  district in math, and two points below in reading,
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          2  and this is a school that services the children in a

          3  Housing Project.

          4                 In addition to that, at the present

          5  time, there are 31 people who were either parents or

          6  paraprofessionals or teachers who are now educators

          7  in this system that were nurtured through

          8  examinations, through principalships.  In fact, the

          9  new Interim Vice- President at York College, David

         10  Taylor, was my student.  And so I became a Regent

         11  feeling that perhaps I had something to offer.

         12                 One of the first steps, as Dr. Smith

         13  said, was the commissioning of dropping out in New

         14  York State, invisible people of color, which

         15  documented the disbalance (sic) in the children who

         16  left the system, pushed out of the system, ignored

         17  in the system, and began to propel the energies

         18  around.  This very difficult concept, it took eight

         19  years to get the Board of Regents to talk about

         20  failing schools, instead of failing children.  So

         21  the phrase low- performing schools, schools under

         22  registration review, came out of a change in the

         23  conceptual framework to the extent that now we look

         24  at what is the educational climate in which children

         25  fail?
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          2                 One of the first efforts that I made

          3  at the invitation of Hank Doulay (phonetic), who was

          4  on Governor Cuomo's staff.  We met privately, and he

          5  said, tell me one thing that I can do that would

          6  make a difference in New York City?  And I said, we

          7  need a Deputy Commissioner in New York City.  At

          8  that time there were State Education Department

          9  staff in New York City, but there was no

         10  Commissioner on site in New York City, even though

         11  there were Deputies in other part of the state.  And

         12  when I approached the Board of Regents and the then

         13  Chancellor, he said, no, we have asked for this

         14  position, there is no money.  I went back to Hank

         15  Doulay, he said, they have never asked, and so we

         16  were given the position of Deputy Commissioner.  And

         17  Dr. Irving Hangle was that first person who came

         18  into an office in New York City and began to make

         19  the staff of the State Education Department do more

         20  than count lunch trays and match names against a

         21  budget line.

         22                 Unfortunately, after Chancellor

         23  Burrell left, that position automatically reverted

         24  itself, and now we do not have a Deputy, we have an

         25  Associate Commissioner.  That minimizes the capacity
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          2  of the City Board of Ed to function in a parallel

          3  way. For example, the Chancellor of the New York

          4  City Board of Ed speaks to the Commissioner.  His

          5  Deputy speaks to the Deputy, the Deputy is in Albany

          6  now.  So the Associate Commissioner that we have,

          7  who works so hard, who has done so much in New York

          8  City, Shelia Evans Trainor (phonetic), must take all

          9  of her work through the prison of the Deputy in

         10  Albany.  And I have struggled against that

         11  unsuccessfully.

         12                 When Carl Carberlotta (phonetic) was

         13  the Chancellor of the Board of Regents, he came to

         14  me and he said, if you vote for me for Chancellor, I

         15  am going to give you an opportunity to do something

         16  that you have been talking about all along, which

         17  was to look at low- performing schools, and that is

         18  what he did, and I Chaired that Committee, that

         19  first Committee on Low- Performing Schools, and

         20  pulled from the community the advocacy community,

         21  the mental health community, the social service

         22  community, the criminal justice community, parents

         23  and medical people on a Committee that walked the

         24  schools in this State.  I visited every low-

         25  performing school in the State of New York, all of
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          2  which, at that time, were in New York City.

          3                 We sequayed from that into the

          4  Visiting Committee on Low- Performing Schools.  And

          5  we visited not only schools that were failing, but

          6  schools that would expect to be failing, but were

          7  not, in order to document what is it that is

          8  happening in this school that is in a low socio-

          9  economic community, but they are not failing.  And

         10  there are two written reports on that work.

         11                 However, I cannot say that it has

         12  been easy to get the work done.  Because of the

         13  Advisory Committees to the Committee on Low-

         14  Performing Schools, those consumers of educational

         15  services who walked those schools, we were able to

         16  get that done.  If we had only had a Committee made

         17  up of members of the Board of Regents, it might have

         18  been very much like today, other commitments, did

         19  not know about it in time, but these were the people

         20  who walked into those schools and parents were able

         21  to get a piece of paper that helped them to know

         22  what to look for, how can you tell if it is a good

         23  school.  You have to go into the lunch room, you

         24  have to look at the stock room, you have got to look

         25  for the roaches and the rat droppings, you have got
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          2  to look and see if there are labs, and if there are

          3  books in the library that are not 40 years old.  So

          4  it was a whole new awakening for many people to

          5  understand what school was really like.

          6                 When the issue of the CUNY vote came,

          7  at that time I Chaired the Committee on Higher

          8  Education, and one of the things that was done,

          9  while I was Chair of that Committee, was to have

         10  hearings in every college in this State to examine

         11  the ethnic climate in the schools of higher

         12  education of this State.  And I visited every

         13  college and university and talked to students and to

         14  staff, and also talked to some students who had not

         15  been invited to the hearing, so we could find out if

         16  we were only talking to those students who had been

         17  hand picked.

         18                 When we approached the time for the

         19  vote on the Amendment to CUNY, because I knew it was

         20  a master plan change, I insisted that it come before

         21  the Board of Regents, it was very difficult because

         22  Baruch College had already implemented the laws of

         23  remediation without the Board of Regents even

         24  knowing about it. And when I researched that, I

         25  said, oh, no, it must come before the Board.  In
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          2  September of the year before that vote was to be

          3  taken, for the first time since I had been a Regent,

          4  I was moved from that Chair, and a person was put

          5  into the Chair of Higher Education, who was in

          6  support of the change for remediation.  That was the

          7  beginning of the first overt acts where the

          8  opportunity to bring about the change that I had

          9  been challenged to do was thwarted. And since that

         10  time, even though I am the Senior Regent, I have

         11  never Chaired a major Committee on the Board of

         12  Regents.

         13                 When the decision was made for the

         14  election of a Vice- Chancellor, and there have been

         15  two other women who were Vice Chancellors, they did

         16  not choose to stand for the election for Chancellor,

         17  I am the first person of color ever to serve as Vice

         18  Chancellor.  There was a tie in the vote.  The

         19  decision was that if that tie could not be broken,

         20  then we would have to wait until the next month for

         21  that vote to take place.  Bob Bennett and Adelaid

         22  Sanford tied.  Mr. Bennett stepped down, and so I

         23  became the Vice Chancellor of the Board of Regents,

         24  and that was fine, it was a three- year term.

         25                 The year before Carl Hayden, the
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          2  standing Chancellor, we were in Elmira, it was the

          3  first time that the Board of Regents had ever

          4  visited a prison in the history of the Board of

          5  Regents, which goes back to 1784, even though we are

          6  responsible for education in the prisons.  And the

          7  population of the young people in the prisons very

          8  often are Special Ed children.  So I had pushed and

          9  pushed and pushed for a visit to a prison.  Elmira

         10  has a maximum security prison.  I had a conversation

         11  with the Chancellor, and he indicated that he did

         12  not know whether he was going to stand for re-

         13  election as a Regent or whether he was going to step

         14  down at that point or whether he was going to serve

         15  out his last year as Chancellor.

         16                 There has been no further

         17  conversation with me at all about the

         18  Chancellorship.  When I was nominated for the

         19  position of Chancellor, it was after the standing

         20  Chancellor sent a letter, January 30th, saying that

         21  he was not going to stand.  It was at that point

         22  that I sent a letter to the members of the Board of

         23  Regents, called several of them, after having talked

         24  to people in the community and people in positions

         25  in New York City, knowing that New York City of the
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          2  five big cities has the largest educational problem,

          3  knowing that the children from the low performing

          4  schools feed the prison population, I felt that here

          5  was an opportunity for something to happen with the

          6  new leadership, new Borough President in Queens,

          7  Borough President of Manhattan who asked me to run,

          8  members of the City Council who said, you must do

          9  this, we are going to have an opportunity to do

         10  something we have never done before, I decided that

         11  I would run.

         12                 Not a single New York City Regent

         13  voted for me, not your colleague, she did not.  Each

         14  Regent that I approached, I heard two reasons.  One

         15  reason was, we committed ourself to Bob Bennett last

         16  year.  And I asked how could you commit yourself to

         17  Bob Bennett last year, when Carl Hayden had not said

         18  last year that he was not going to stand for re-

         19  election?  And that is when I began to understand

         20  that there had been a plan in place before the

         21  public announcement was made.  And that they had

         22  already made their commitments.

         23                 Did we ever have a conversation about

         24  what qualities do we want in a Chancellor?  Have we

         25  talked about who has those qualities?  Have we
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          2  talked about who has the time, have we talked about

          3  who has seniority?  That did not happen.

          4                 In the past, wherever there were

          5  elections prior to the day of the election, there

          6  was a discussion where people talked about their

          7  point of view and what their plans and what their

          8  policies would be.  That did not happen.

          9                 Now this document, which was done in

         10  the year of the Bicentennial of the Board of

         11  Regents, gives the names of people who were

         12  Chancellors and Vice- Chancellors, and you will find

         13  the sequence of Vice- Chancellor to Chancellor.

         14  Before I decided to run, I checked with the

         15  historian, with the secretary, to find out what the

         16  precedent was.  So it was clear for the forty years

         17  where they are recorded minutes whenever a standing

         18  Vice- Chancellor chose to run for the position, they

         19  were elected.

         20                 Now people tend to say that I am

         21  suggesting that it was automatic.  I am not saying

         22  that it was automatic, I am not saying that the vote

         23  was illegal, I am saying that it changed the

         24  tradition.  And that would have been all right, if

         25  we had had a conversation that said, you know, this
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          2  has been our tradition, but now there are some

          3  extenuating circumstances, there is some new

          4  information, and so we are going to break that

          5  tradition based on, that would have been most

          6  acceptable to me.  Because I can understand breaking

          7  tradition if it is no longer relevant, but we had no

          8  such discussion.

          9                 I think what was most bothersome to

         10  me and to my family, was the excoriating articles in

         11  the newspapers.  And I have first- hand information

         12  that those were programmed.  They were asked,

         13  because the members of the Board of Regents, who are

         14  there now, none of them were Regents when those

         15  quotes were taken.  So they would not have had any

         16  way of saying, this is what she said. But the people

         17  with whom I had worked and from whom I had taken

         18  other evidences of humiliation, such as, the

         19  Commissioner or the Deputy saying, oh, yes, I heard

         20  you say that last month, but I did not hear anybody

         21  else say it.  Which meant that because I said it, it

         22  meant nothing.

         23                 When I first became a Regent, and I

         24  would bring up issues about Special Education and

         25  the IEP and the number of certified teachers, the
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          2  staff and other Regents would turn to the other New

          3  York City Regents, say, is that true?  And if they

          4  did not validate it, then it was not true.  So it

          5  has not been without discomfort, but the cause was

          6  so worthy.  When not a single member of the Board

          7  called me to say, Adelaid, I saw those articles, and

          8  I know they are not true, nobody from that Board.

          9                 The members who told me reasons for

         10  not voting for me, and there were three, said, you

         11  are uncompromising, we think we can work with Bob.

         12  I said to them, give me evidence of that, when have

         13  I been uncompromising?  Have I been fractious even

         14  in the place of times when I could have?   I could

         15  have raised a lot concern about being removed from

         16  that Chairpersonship when they have never moved

         17  Chairs in September, I did not do that.  I could

         18  have very fractious when they took away the position

         19  of Deputy, I did not do that.  So I felt I had been

         20  very accommodating, and still they were saying, that

         21  I was uncompromising.  And so my response was well,

         22  there are some things around which we cannot

         23  compromise, we cannot compromise the majority of

         24  children failing in schools without certified

         25  teachers.
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          2                 Another Regent said that well, even

          3  if I had known you were running, I think Bob would

          4  have been the better candidate. I said, give me a

          5  reason, give me one instance.  And an example was,

          6  well, you do not reach out.  And I said everyone who

          7  asks me to do something, I do it.  And these people

          8  who have spoken today have given you instances of my

          9  reaching out.  I said give me an instance in which

         10  you, Chancellor Hayden, reached out?  Because the

         11  year that I have been your Vice- Chancellor, you

         12  have never called me one time, you never conferred

         13  with me about anything.  Give me an example of when

         14  Regent Bennett, whom I respect, he is a very nice

         15  person, give me an example that shows his reaching

         16  out when I did not reach out?  But I could not get

         17  any reasons, and that was what was so difficult.

         18                 And, of course, in our culture men

         19  want to protect, and my husband and my son and my

         20  son- in- law could not protect me from the vileness

         21  of those newspaper articles, and that was very, very

         22  painful.  I got to the place that I really did not

         23  tell them everything that people said.  The Upstate

         24  Press was invasive, I did not show it to them

         25  because of the historical conflict when your family,
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          2  the men in your life cannot protect you.  And my

          3  husband said, you get up at three o'clock in the

          4  morning and come home three days later, and this is

          5  what they say, they do not say anything positive,

          6  and they do not say anything about the person that

          7  is running against you?  If I was to ask anyone

          8  here, do you know Regent Bennett, have you ever seen

          9  him?  And there is not a part of this state that I

         10  have not been to, even before I became Vice-

         11  Chancellor, from the north country all the way to

         12  the far reaches of Long Island, in order to make

         13  sure that I was serving all of the children.

         14                 So I am appreciative to you for this

         15  undertaking, because I think that as long as we have

         16  New York City Regents who represent New York City at

         17  the State level, we need to be able to have some

         18  accountability for how they express the concerns of

         19  the State at that level.  Because the Board of

         20  Regents does defer to the Regent from the judicial

         21  district that they represent.  And as I have gone

         22  across this City and across this State, and I ask

         23  people, do you know who your Regent is?  They do not

         24  know, because that Regent did not reach out.  But I

         25  do not think that there is anyone in New York City
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          2  who can say, no, I do not know Adelaid Sanford, not

          3  because of any virtue on my part, but because I went

          4  to them and asked them to hold me accountable.

          5                 So I thank you for this.  It does not

          6  trouble me that as the first Regent of African

          7  Ancestry to become Vice Chancellor that I did not

          8  become Chancellor, it does not bother me personally.

          9    But it bothers me for the children that we tell,

         10  if you are qualified, if you are prepared, America

         11  will give you a chance.  If you do what you are

         12  supposed to do, live by the law, keep your life

         13  clean, this is a place where you can rise to, as

         14  people say, whatever you want to be.  Unfortunately,

         15  that is just not quite true.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Certainly, Dr.

         18  Sanford, we are indeed honored with this historic

         19  testimony today.  And I am glad that Crosswalks is

         20  here, so it will be televised and it will be a part

         21  of the official City Hall records.  We are so

         22  honored by your eloquence, by your commitment to our

         23  children, to all the children of this State, to your

         24  high level of skills and genius and intellect, and

         25  compassion and passion and love for education and
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          2  our people  So this is just a drop in a bucket, this

          3  is the least we can do to get some truth, to let

          4  truth get a hearing.

          5                 And I want to commit to you that this

          6  is just the beginning of it, not the end.  This

          7  information was critical.  The Regents, they do not

          8  want to come to us, we will go to them.  Maybe it is

          9  time for my Committee members and for me to call up

         10  and get on the agenda in Albany, and say that I

         11  request a special meeting with them to discuss this

         12  very serious matter.  We are not going to let it go,

         13  because as you said, it's beyond you what they have

         14  done to you is something that they have done to all

         15  of us.  It's against all of our children, our

         16  families, and as a Black man, I too, am outrage that

         17  we could not provide better protection for you.  So

         18  this is our continued commitment to do that.

         19                 And I think these hearings represent

         20  the need for us to really put something together to

         21  find out what this Board of Regents is really

         22  supposed to be about, and to hold them accountable

         23  to whatever their mission is, whatever their

         24  responsibilities are, the all of the people of this

         25  State.  And this is the launching of a movement to
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          2  do that.  So we thank you tremendously for you

          3  presentation.

          4                 DR. SANFORD:  Thank you.  I hope that

          5  there will be an opportunity for some of the issues

          6  that still need to be resolved, such as the issue of

          7  curriculum that Dr. Smith raised, because you are

          8  familiar with the fact that there was a question

          9  about the monitoring of the questions on the Regents

         10  Exam.  But beyond that what is the curriculum like

         11  on which the Regents Exams are based?

         12                 The other issue that I hope will be

         13  addressed is, we regulate 38 professions, which

         14  means that if the consumer of the services of any of

         15  those professionals is not what it should be, you

         16  get an infection in your fingernail, that your hair

         17  drops out because of the dye, the landscape gardener

         18  does not put the bush in the right place, with an

         19  800 number you can call and get adjudication, and

         20  the Board of Regents will call that practitioner in,

         21  we can fine them, we can send them back to school,

         22  we can revoke their license.  But the consumer of

         23  educational services has no adjudicative process.

         24  So that if your child is only had an uncertified

         25  teacher, if the textbooks are 40 years out of date,
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          2  if your child has to take a bio- lab and never has

          3  seen a lab, and has to take a Regent, as the

          4  consumer of educational services, you have no

          5  adjudicative process.  And that is something that I

          6  have struggled with the whole 16 years that I have

          7  been on the Board, to say that education and

          8  teachers must be a profession.  If we had that

          9  adjudicative, we would not be this delayed in

         10  looking at the issue of low- performing schools,

         11  because parents could have said, my child is zoned

         12  to this school, it is failing, and I have a charge

         13  to make against, as a consumer.  You cannot do that.

         14                 And so those are some of the issues

         15  that I hope will be addressed.  How are Committee

         16  Chairpersons selected?  We have Regents of color who

         17  were on the Board for five years and never got a

         18  major Chair, while there are other people who come

         19  on and they get, at least, a Task Force

         20  Chairpersonship immediately.  That, there are so

         21  many issues to be examined.  And so I am so

         22  grateful, and I know that this will not put me in

         23  favor with my colleagues on the Board, but I hope

         24  that we will have an opportunity to raise many of

         25  those issues.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We will.  Thank

          3  you very much. We thank you for your courage.

          4                 What I would like to do at this

          5  point, we are going to open up any questions from my

          6  colleagues, and then right after the questions for

          7  Dr. Sanford, we are going to take our vote on this

          8  resolution.

          9                 Council Member Seabrook.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chairman. And Dr. Sanford it is, indeed, a

         12  pleasure to hear from you and just to state that

         13  there is no press here today.  They have actually

         14  participated in this whole, well, I'm sorry, the

         15  real press is here.  But I am talking about the

         16  press that do damage, the press that actually did

         17  damage is not here.  And it says something, because

         18  the truth was told here today of what really took

         19  place. And I think it is important that we had the

         20  opportunity to hear this.  And I think that also it

         21  says something, you just really gave such a

         22  dissertation about what we do not understand in

         23  politics.  And when you indicated that there was no

         24  New York City Regent to vote for you, I am

         25  disappointed, I am upset, and I am going to
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          2  organize.  And I think that this is a message for

          3  us, this is a message.

          4                 And I want to tell you that our

          5  commitment, and my commitment that you will never

          6  leave this planet with a broken heart as so many of

          7  our leaders have.  And that we have a commitment

          8  because you have carried us on your back, you have

          9  carried us.  And I will tell you to this day, that

         10  we owe, as an obligation and a commitment to take

         11  this and tell this word, because all of those who

         12  portray this sense of loyalty, coalitions and

         13  everything else, those days are long gone.

         14                 You have set the record here

         15  straight, and I am here to tell you that I intend to

         16  say that wherever I go, because we owe you that.

         17  And thank God, for you.

         18                 DR. SANFORD:  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

         20  much.  Any other?  We have been joined by Council

         21  Member Jim Gennaro, we appreciate your presence.

         22                 At this point, if there are no other

         23  questions for Dr. Sanford, I would like to have

         24  Council Member Al Vann, who is the prime sponsor of

         25  this bill to share some words with us and then we
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          2  will take our vote.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Thank you,

          4  Chairman Barron, beloved Reverend Doctor.  I give

          5  you a Reverend because you represent the truth,

          6  which is the highest level of morality.

          7                 You have heard Dr. Sanford, so not

          8  very much can be said when she has spoken.  If you

          9  have heard her 100 times, or if you are hearing her

         10  for the first time, you are always moved by what she

         11  says because of her intellect, the truth or

         12  eloquence all that she personifies.

         13                 In brief, our lives have intersected

         14  a number of occasions over the years.  The first

         15  time being in early sixties when she was a teacher

         16  at PS 21 and I was a teacher, Junior High School 35,

         17  and PS 21 was a feeder school for 35.  And so she

         18  was there when we founded the Negro Teachers'

         19  Association in 1964, later to have become the

         20  African- American Teachers' Association.

         21                 Later on, my children, two of my

         22  children, my daughters attended PS 21 because she

         23  was the principal, a school where most of the

         24  children come from the adjourning public housing,

         25  and I was not living in public housing, a few blocks

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  from there, but I sent my children to that school,

          3  and on and on and on.

          4                 So that when Dr. Clarke made it clear

          5  that he was no longer going to seek the Regents, and

          6  Assemblyman Arthur Eve said we have got to find

          7  someone to fill that seat, it just came, that this

          8  should be the person.  And because of our

          9  relationship, I sought her out, and I want to make

         10  something very clear.  I take a lot of pride that I

         11  reached out for Dr. Sanford and she agreed to

         12  participate in the process.  I even take pride in

         13  the fact that it required strategy, it required a

         14  plan and strategy and tactics for it to occur.  I

         15  would not want you to think that there was no

         16  opposition to this, that she just walked in, because

         17  she had a history of running a successful school in

         18  Bed- Sty.  And so there were an organized, strongest

         19  organized lobby against community interest was at

         20  work here.  So they were outsmarted.

         21                 But I want you to realize this, that

         22  with all of that it would not have occurred, accept

         23  for who she is, and now she was able to overwhelm

         24  those who interviewed her and were looking for

         25  reasons why they should not be supportive.  We have
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          2  to be very clear.  And they came, but when they came

          3  it was too late.  They came, UFT, on and on, on and

          4  on.  When they found out what was happening, because

          5  they did not know it was going to happen, to our

          6  credit.  So when they found out, and all guns were

          7  blown, it was too late.  So I want you to

          8  understand, you know, you have to understand and

          9  appreciate how she got there.  Yes, we did a lot,

         10  but she got there because of who she is and what she

         11  represents.

         12                 As to the process itself, the Regents

         13  process, they broke tradition, and that is, we are

         14  clear on that now.  But even if she was not a woman,

         15  and that would have been historic for them to have

         16  selected the first woman.  And even if she was not a

         17  person of color, if she was not an African Queen,

         18  and it would have been great in our State for the

         19  first time to have an African person being the

         20  Chancellor.  But those things aside, if they were

         21  concerned about the children in our State just being

         22  concerned about the children in our State and

         23  wanting to have the best available to lead and guide

         24  this system, just based on qualifications, that is

         25  all, just based on qualifications, I want you to see
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          2  Bennett's resume and look at Dr. Sanford's resume.

          3                 If you could see here, his little,

          4  and I do not diminish, he is a man, he has

          5  accomplished, he is a businessman, successful.  You

          6  know, he has done well, he is probably rich.  But

          7  when you measure, if you evaluate what he has done,

          8  his life experiences and the experiences of Dr.

          9  Sanford, there is no comparison, there is no way any

         10  person who could read and think and be concerned

         11  could select him for this position.  So there are

         12  some other things at work that we now understand.

         13                 And that is why I had offered up this

         14  resolution, the only resolution I have offered up in

         15  my time here in the City Council, and I'm just so

         16  blessed that Chairman Barron happens to Chair Higher

         17  Education, I'm sure others would also be concerned,

         18  but he would be particularly concerned and make sure

         19  that things would go well.  No injustice should be

         20  endured silently.  No more holocaust, quietly, you

         21  know.  No more slavery, quietly.  This is a

         22  tremendous injustice, not to Regents Sanford, they

         23  cannot touch her.  It is an injustice to all of us,

         24  to every child in school, to every adult who have

         25  children in school, to all of us who live in this
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          2  society and realize that our future is based on what

          3  is happening to our children and our youth.  We

          4  should all be outraged.

          5                 And so the purpose of this resolution

          6  is to say we will not endure this silently.  And so

          7  the resolution calls for an explanation, tell the

          8  Legislature, Regents, what you did and why you did

          9  it?  Tell all the educators in the State, let us

         10  know how did you arrive at this decision, you know.?

         11  Let the people know, maybe you will be justified.

         12  But it will not be down under cloak of darkness, and

         13  I am clear now, that Chairman Barron is not, that he

         14  is going to shed some light on this, and that will

         15  be the anecdote to the message that they sent.

         16                 They sent a very negative message,

         17  the highest august body in the State of New York,

         18  how they picked their Chancellor.  And we are going

         19  to send another message, it was wrong, it was

         20  racist, it was sexist, it was denying every child in

         21  this State and in this nation a valuable lesson.

         22                 And so I am very, I am happy today, I

         23  am always happy in your presence, but I am happy

         24  today because I see the beginning of the light

         25  beginning to shine.  Our people will begin to
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          2  understand, our children have to know, yes, you must

          3  be prepared, but you also must have power.  It is a

          4  power game here. It is ironic, Mr. Chairman, that in

          5  the year when we are changing the structure of

          6  education in New York City and giving the power to

          7  the Mayor, in the year when this is the most glaring

          8  and significant issue in this City, State and

          9  Nation, in that same year the Regents denied our

         10  children the leadership that they deserve. What

         11  hypocrisy, what a contradiction, and all that has to

         12  be told to the people so that we can understand what

         13  we have to do to move to the next step.

         14                 The next Adelaid Sanford will become

         15  the Chancellor of the University of the State of New

         16  York.

         17                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I cannot think

         19  of a better sequay into the vote.  We thank you for

         20  your years of commitment to the education of our

         21  children.  You are most honorable and courageous and

         22  just down to earth commitment, Council Member Vann,

         23  I always want to call you Assemblyman Vann, because

         24  you have done so well in the Assembly over the

         25  years.  We thank you for your dedication, for your
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          2  commitment and for your courage.

          3                 At this point we are going to have

          4  Maritza Bolanos read us the Resolution, and then

          5  after that we will call for the vote.

          6                 MS. BOLANOS:  "Resolution admonishing

          7  the Board of Regents of the University of the State

          8  of New York for breaking tradition by failing to

          9  elect the position of Chancellor, the incumbent

         10  Vice- Chancellor as has been the tradition of the

         11  Board of Regents.  And requesting that the Board of

         12  Regents explain to the New York State Legislature,

         13  all statewide educational organizations, and to all

         14  New Yorkers, why they neglected to follow this

         15  tradition, and to seize the opportunity presented to

         16  them to elevate to the position of Chancellor

         17  incumbent Vice- Chancellor Sanford, a visionary and

         18  committed educational leader who has worked

         19  tirelessly on behalf of all of the children of the

         20  State of New York to provide them with a quality

         21  education through the State's public school system.

         22                 Whereas, Since the early 1960s, the

         23  minutes of the Board of Regents of the University of

         24  the State of New York have reflected a policy of the

         25  Board of Regents where they have elected by majority
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          2  of vote the incumbent Vice- Chancellor to succeed

          3  the Chancellor who is vacating such position; and

          4                 Whereas,  For the first time since

          5  the early 1960s, the Board of Regents have failed to

          6  elect to the position of Chancellor the current,

          7  incumbent Vice- Chancellor, Regent Adelaid Louvenia

          8  Hines Sanford;

          9                 Whereas, The Board of Regents

         10  unprecedented break with their traditional practice

         11  is particularly troubling because of the outstanding

         12  qualifications and educational leadership that Vice-

         13  Chancellor Sanford has exhibited during her nearly

         14  16 years of service as a member of the Board of

         15  Regents; and

         16                 Whereas, Vice- Chancellor Sanford is

         17  a graduate of Brooklyn College, Wellesley College,

         18  and Fordham University, where she was a Ford

         19  Foundation Fellow in Urban Education; and

         20                 Whereas, Vice- Chancellor Sanford has

         21  served in many positions of educational leadership,

         22  having begun her teaching career in 1950, and having

         23  served as Principal of Public School 21 and Crispus

         24  Attucks School, where during her tenure the school

         25  received city- wide recognition as an outstanding
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          2  inner city school with excellent teacher morale and

          3  special programs for gifted and talented students;

          4  and

          5                 Whereas, Vice- Chancellor Sanford has

          6  received numerous awards for her outstanding

          7  leadership in education, including the First

          8  Distinguished Black Alumna Aware on the 125th

          9  Anniversary of Wellesley College in recognition of

         10  her lifetime achievements, the Humanitarian Award of

         11  the Congressional Black Caucus, the Distinguished

         12  Alumna Award of Brooklyn College, the Ellen Lurie

         13  Award of the Community Service Society, and the

         14  Josephine Shaw Lowell Award for her work in

         15  empowering low- income communities; and

         16                 Whereas, In 1986, Vie- Chancellor

         17  Sanford was unanimously elected to a sever- year

         18  term as a Member- At- Large of the Board of Regents,

         19  re- elected to a second seven- year term in 1993,

         20  and to a five- year term in 2000.

         21                 Whereas, In March 2001, Vice-

         22  Chancellor Sanford was elected to the position of

         23  Vice- Chancellor of the Board of Regents; and

         24                 Whereas, During her tenure with the

         25  Board of Regents diploma, Vice- Chancellor Sanford
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          2  has served and continues to serve in many leadership

          3  positions, including Chair of the Regents'

          4  Committees on Low- Performing Schools, Higher

          5  Education, and the Professions; and

          6                 Whereas, During her tenure, Vice-

          7  Chancellor Sanford produced the report "Perform or

          8  Perish," published by the New York State Education

          9  Department, examining the impact of failing schools

         10  in New York State and helping to set the foundation

         11  for the formulation of new educational policies; and

         12                 Whereas, During her tenure, Vice-

         13  Chancellor Sanford provided important leadership,

         14  creating the Task Force on Teaching as Chair of the

         15  Committee on Higher Education, which examined and

         16  recommended more rigorous standards for teachers and

         17  pedagogical institutions; and

         18                 Whereas, At the present time, Vice-

         19  Chancellor Sanford serves a Co- Chair of the

         20  Committee on Closing the Performance Gap, which is

         21  processing and scrutinizing the problems in

         22  accessing educational opportunities and pupil

         23  performance in New York State; and

         24                 Whereas, In her capacity as Chair of

         25  subcommittees and task forces, Vice- Chancellor
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          2  Sanford established the Citizens Advisory Panels,

          3  drawing from distinguished citizens and

          4  incorporating a broad spectrum of member of the

          5  community, including clergy, parents, members of the

          6  judiciary and the business and banking communities,

          7  who brought a depth of knowledge, energy and

          8  commitment to the work of the Regents' Committees,

          9  and provided sound recommendations of matters of

         10  policy and public concern; now, therefore, be it

         11                 Resolved, That the Council of the

         12  City of New York admonishes the Board of Regents of

         13  the University of the State of New York for breaking

         14  tradition by failing to elect to the position of

         15  Chancellor the incumbent the Vice- Chancellor, as

         16  has been the tradition of the Board of Regents; and,

         17  be it further

         18                 Resolved, That the Council of the

         19  City of New York requests that the Board of Regents

         20  of the University of the State of New York explain

         21  to the New York State Legislature, all statewide

         22  educational organizations, and to all New Yorkers

         23  why they neglected to follow this tradition and the

         24  opportunity presented to them to elevate to the

         25  position of Chancellor, incumbent Vice- Chancellor
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          2  Sanford, a visionary and committed educational

          3  leader, who has worked tirelessly on behalf of all

          4  the children of the State of New York to provide

          5  them with a quality education through the State's

          6  public school system."

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Will you call

          8  the roll, please?

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Barron.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I vote aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Lopez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Permission to

         13  explain my vote?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  You have got it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Dr. Sanford, I

         16  should have known better, I have been looking at you

         17  for a while, and the image of grandiose that have

         18  emanated from you is overwhelming.  Then I was

         19  admiring you when you were sitting in there, and I

         20  even did not know it was you.  And it is my loss

         21  that I did not meet you before. But I am going to

         22  fix that, because I am going to get to know you a

         23  lot.

         24                 Saying that, I want to make clear

         25  that I am going to vote on this resolution with the
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          2  following understanding.  I do not believe that you

          3  were not voted in as Chancellor because you were a

          4  woman, or because you were an African- American, or

          5  because you were not smart or smart.  I think it was

          6  because your ideology is very clear stated in

          7  everything that you do, and you ideology speak about

          8  humanity, speak about opportunity, speak about

          9  fairness, and speak about making sure that the

         10  education system that we have serve all children

         11  equally.  And I think that is the single reason why

         12  you were not appointed to that position, because you

         13  stand for justice.

         14                 And it is my belief that in the

         15  educational system that we have in New York City and

         16  in this State, is not about educating children.  It

         17  is about choosing who we educate in order to

         18  continue to maintain the unfairness, power, in the

         19  hands of those who abuse people and not to share

         20  equality in this day of ours.  And that is the

         21  reason, I think, you were not chosen.

         22                 I vote yes on this Resolution.  And I

         23  thank you for giving your time, your energy and your

         24  power to all of us to believe in humanity, even when

         25  some people out there try to take and rob us from
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          2  that spirit.  Thank you for being.

          3                 DR. SANFORD:  Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Perkins.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  May I be

          6  excused to explain my vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes, you may.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  First I want

          9  to thank Council Member Vann for his continued

         10  leadership.  I, like Council Member Barron, have a

         11  habit of calling you Assemblyman Vann.  And so

         12  forgive me if I cannot get that dynamic image out of

         13  my mind, but this Resolution, as you point out,

         14  maybe the only Resolution, but it is just another

         15  sentence in a long series of actions that represent

         16  the kind of dynamic, effective leadership that you

         17  have provided for so many years to, not only the

         18  constituents of Brooklyn, but to the people of the

         19  State of New York.

         20                 And Dr. Sanford is another example of

         21  that kind of leadership that you have provided.  And

         22  many of us, as I have said to you time and time

         23  again, have been the blessings of your work. So I

         24  just want to thank you for taking this leadership

         25  here and bringing to light this issue.
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          2                 I want to thank my good friend,

          3  Charles Barron, Councilman Barron, the Chairman of

          4  this Committee.  He has, once again, proven why we

          5  chose him to be the Chairman of the Higher Education

          6  Committee.  And the leadership that he is providing

          7  with this Committee, again, this is just another

          8  extraordinary example of how this Council, this new

          9  Council is better representing the people of the

         10  City of New York in ways that are provocative, in

         11  ways that are challenging, and in which the truth is

         12  being put forward, frankly and eloquently and

         13  consistently.

         14                 Dr. Sanford, I just cannot say enough

         15  appreciation for your being in the years that I have

         16  had the privilege of knowing you and of working with

         17  you.  I, too, was disappointed in the manner in

         18  which this process played out.  I had the privilege

         19  of joining Councilman Barron and Chemotap (phonetic)

         20  and others in trying push your candidacy forward.

         21  So we were quite disappointed knowing that you were

         22  clearly the best person for our children, and for

         23  that particular assignment.

         24                 But I believe that your testimony and

         25  your presence teaches us that we will prevail, that
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          2  we will continue in this struggle that this is

          3  something that we will have to continue with no

          4  matter what.

          5                 So I want to, finally, I took a

          6  moment and acknowledge her void from the Amsterdam

          7  News, who was amongst us, and you know, the media is

          8  not here as we know it very often to be, as you

          9  pointed out correctly, Council Member Seabrook.  But

         10  the Amsterdam News is here, and that instrument has

         11  proven over the years to be very valuable in

         12  bringing forth the truth in our community.  And in

         13  fact, was the only paper that not only pushed the

         14  candidacy before the people, but also when the

         15  disparaging and hateful remarks were being tossed at

         16  Regent Sanford, they reported that to keep the

         17  people alert.  So I want to acknowledge your

         18  presence and appreciate that.

         19                 I also finally want to request that

         20  my name be added to the list of those who have

         21  signed onto this Resolution, and with great pride, I

         22  want to vote aye.  Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I vote aye,

         25  and I want to add just a couple of things.  First of
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          2  all, I do not know you, Dr. Sanford, but I have

          3  certainly heard you speak many, many times and I

          4  come from a long Wellesley family, so that is

          5  terrific.

          6                 And I also want to add that I loved

          7  what Al Vann had to say, because I know his

          8  daughters, and with all due respect to Al Vann, they

          9  are as articulate, even have more presence and are

         10  incredibly nice and smart women.  And I think you

         11  had a lot to do with it, maybe he had a little, but

         12  you obviously had a great deal. And that is more

         13  important than being, perhaps being a principal is

         14  more important than anything else you have done in

         15  your life.  And I was glad to hear that history,

         16  that is the part I did know.

         17                 And Mr. Barron, I look forward to

         18  more discussion on the Regents.  I am one of these

         19  people, just as Dr. Sanford was talking about Mr.

         20  Bennett, I leaned over to Al Vann and I said, excuse

         21  me, who is on the Regents?  And I am just as

         22  ignorant as many in the public.  So I look forward

         23  to more discussion on the ongoing basis in terms of

         24  that aspect of our government.

         25                 I vote aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gennaro.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Mr.

          4  Chairman, I wish to speak about my vote?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Okay, thank

          7  you, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you, Dr. Sanford.  Thank

          8  you, everyone here today

          9                 I apologize that I have been jumping

         10  in and out, I am Chairing a Committee that meets in

         11  a few minutes and the press conferences regarding my

         12  own Committee, but this is a proud day for me here.

         13                 Let me just tell you a little, I was

         14  educated at SUNY, at Stonybrook.  I did my

         15  undergraduate at the State University, I did my

         16  graduate degree at the State University.  I

         17  currently teach at Queens College, so I am very much

         18  a part of the CUNY and SUNY family, have been since

         19  1975, and I am indebted to my students and all that

         20  they have done for me.  And all the State University

         21  students throughout the State.  And I am saddened at

         22  this injustice.

         23                 But I am happy at this moment that I

         24  fought to be placed on this Committee.  And I would

         25  like the thank the Chairman for advocating my
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          2  placement on the Committee.  There are supposed to

          3  be seven on the Committee, and now there is eight, I

          4  am the eighth.  And so it's, I wish to stand behind

          5  all the remarks that have been made today.  I do not

          6  know you personally, but I know, certainly, of your

          7  accomplishments and your accomplishments are our

          8  legion.  And I stand here proudly, and I proudly

          9  vote aye to this resolution.

         10                 I wish to congratulate, my friend, Al

         11  Vann for putting this forward, and for our great

         12  Chairman, Charles Barron, I stand with him.  And I

         13  wish to add my name as one of the prime sponsors on

         14  this, and thank you for that.

         15                 Billy, have you got that Billy?

         16  Okay, Billy has got it.  Okay.

         17                 With that said, it is a proud day for

         18  me here, it is a proud day, a sad day, but a proud

         19  day.  And I guess those, you know, who come forward

         20  and wish to, you know, shake things up, sometimes

         21  there is an attempt to push people to the side.  And

         22  this is, but the students I have learned with at

         23  SUNY and teach at CUNY, and I spoke at a graduation

         24  this morning, that is why I have this flower here,

         25  and one of the things I told the students was to do
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          2  everything that they could not to be pushed to the

          3  side.  And I will do everything I can to see that

          4  people like you are not pushed aside, so I am happy

          5  to add my voice today.  I proudly vote aye. Thank

          6  you all very much, an I'm sorry if I went on too

          7  long.  Thank you.

          8                 DR. SANFORD: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Seabrook.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Mr.

         11  Chairman, just to be excused to explain my vote?

         12  First of all, I would certainly like to thank, I was

         13  getting ready to say Assemblyman, Councilman Al

         14  Vann, who has put this resolution together.  I think

         15  it is really apropos in the tradition of what Al

         16  stands for and his sense of empowerment.  And

         17  historically he has been in the forefront of

         18  empowering our community, and raising the level when

         19  there is a sense of injustice.  And this resolution

         20  is a clear indication of how it galvanizes our

         21  people, and to see people who have had an injustice

         22  and the passing over.

         23                 And just a historical point that Al,

         24  when Thomas Mentor (phonetic) was passed over.  You

         25  created a Coalition for a Just New York because we
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          2  understood the importance of how he was a Vice-

          3  Chancellor and never made it to that top.  And I can

          4  recall also we served on the Education Committee,

          5  and Al Vann should have been Chairman of the

          6  Education Committee we served, and he was passed

          7  over.  And so it is important that we understand and

          8  hopefully that we can begin to have this as a

          9  Resolution that would allow us to begin to think and

         10  not allow this reoccurrence of history constantly

         11  win, it's our time.  And so Al, you must be

         12  commended for putting this resolution together.

         13                 And Mr. Chairman, I wanted to thank

         14  you for the opportunity to have this heard, because

         15  I would dare say, and I would hope, but I would dare

         16  say that it might not have been heard had you not

         17  been the Chair for this Committee.  So you must be

         18  commended for taking this stand and allowing the

         19  truth to be told so that it can now go out and reach

         20  those other levels.  And you will see a ground swell

         21  of what will happen here today will exude in our

         22  communities throughout the City.

         23                 And to Dr. Sanford, let me just say

         24  that you are truly God's gift to New York in terms

         25  of helping our children.  No one else has raised
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          2  this courageous development of understanding the

          3  problems of schools and children as you have done in

          4  the years that I have had the opportunity to have

          5  known you and to have been there to see what has

          6  taken place, and to see the whole Board of Regents

          7  change because of what you did and make educators

          8  respond and stand up.  No one would have talked

          9  about SURR Schools, no one would have talked about

         10  having a Vice- Chancellor or a Deputy Superintendent

         11  in the City of New York, had it not been for you. So

         12  I say that, again, hats off to you, and now we must

         13  do what has to be fair.

         14                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         15  And I vote enthusiastically yes.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of six in

         17  the affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no

         18  abstentions, the resolution is approved.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I want to thank

         20  you very much. I want to, particularly, thank my

         21  Committee members for there attendance, and this is

         22  a proud moment for us.  This Committee has protected

         23  undocumented students in CUNY, we have protected the

         24  TAP Program in CUNY, now we come forth to protect a

         25  Queen, a giant amongst us, Dr. Adelaid Sanford.
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          2                 This resolution passed unanimously,

          3  will now go to the full Council, and we urge you to

          4  call your Council members up in your districts and

          5  tell them to support this resolution as we go before

          6  the full Council to have it passed by the full

          7  Council.  And this is just the beginning.

          8                 We have one more panel, and then we

          9  will be wrapping it up.  We want to thank my

         10  colleagues.  This is a very, very busy time for City

         11  Council members.  Actually, we have two full- time

         12  jobs, somebody told me it was a part- time job.  But

         13  we have a full time job in the district and a full-

         14  time job here at City Hall. But yet when it comes to

         15  these hearings, Council members come for important

         16  votes and important discussions.  So I want to thank

         17  them.

         18                 And Dr. Sanford, we thank you, we

         19  thank you so much for your testimony.

         20                 DR. SANFORD:  And thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And we will move

         22  onto our next panel.  Thank you very much.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Mr. Chair?  I

         24  just, before Dr. Sanford leaves, I want to suggest,

         25  for the benefit of the public, and the benefit of
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          2  those who are looking at the TV, that we should

          3  begin a very strong letter writing campaign to all

          4  of the delegates of New York City on this Board who

          5  voted against Dr. Sanford.  And that letter campaign

          6  should begin as we speak, demanding an explanation

          7  why they did such a thing?  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well I thank you

          9  for that.  And the letter will start from this

         10  Committee.

         11                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our next panel, and

         12  final panel is Alice Uzoaga, Cheryl Brannan, and

         13  Atism Sentwali.

         14                 Please raise your right hand?  Is

         15  everyone here?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Can we has some

         17  quiet in the Chambers, we just want to, this final

         18  panel, quiet in the Chambers, please?

         19                 Michael Hooper, have a seat, please,

         20  do not disturb my hearing here, Mike?  Now you are

         21  on TV for disturbing the hearing, see.  Mike Hooper

         22  is a great educator, let's give him a hand clap.  He

         23  does a lot of great work in our district, District

         24  16.

         25                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please, raise your
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          2  right hand?  Do you each, independently, swear that

          3  the testimony that you are about to provide before

          4  this Committee is the whole truth and to the best of

          5  your knowledge?

          6                 ALL:  I do.

          7                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please state you name

          8  and organization before you begin your testimony?

          9  And we will start with Ms. Uzoaga.  Thank you.

         10                 MS. UZOAGA:  Good afternoon.  Oh, I

         11  forget if this red light stays on.  Okay, now.  Good

         12  afternoon.  I want to thank the members of the

         13  Council for giving me this opportunity to be here.

         14  My name is Alice Uzoaga, and I am the person who was

         15  the AP, the Assistant Principal when Regent Adelaid

         16  Sanford became the Principal at CS 21.

         17                 I am here today because I do want to

         18  let you know the kind of person that she was, it

         19  just did not start when she became a Regent.  She

         20  was and is a very high minded person of integrity,

         21  and that is a word you do not hear too often,

         22  integrity, who has principles, who stands on these

         23  principles, and when she became the Principal in

         24  1964 of PS 21 and I became her Assistant Principal,

         25  we made a pack together, the two of us, because this

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  was a school that had students coming from a public

          3  project across the street, who came with all of the

          4  demographics that so- called children at- risk are

          5  supposed to have.  The school was a failing school.

          6  But we knew that these students had God- given

          7  talents and skills and abilities, and we made a

          8  promise that we were going to turn this school

          9  around.

         10                 Well there were certain things that

         11  you have to do to make a failing school become a

         12  successful school.  And this thing, these are the

         13  things that a Chancellor of the Board of Regents

         14  need to know, if he wants to turn the school system

         15  in New York City around.  First of all, you have to

         16  know something about the students that you are going

         17  to be working with.

         18                 So what did we do in CS 21?  It is

         19  called CS 21 now because it is a Community School,

         20  we made sure that all of the teachers who came into

         21  our building as new teachers got to know the

         22  community.  Now just think about that?  That is

         23  quite a daring move because most of the teachers who

         24  came into the school were not from the community.

         25  They were from the larger community of New York
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          2  City, had never even walked through Bed- Sty, and as

          3  one teacher said, I was a little afraid to come

          4  here.  But we took them into the community, we took

          5  them into parents' homes, and they were amazed.

          6  They had never been into an apartment in a project,

          7  they were amazed at the decor, they did not

          8  understand that here were Black parents who had

          9  beautiful apartments, with all of the things, and

         10  maybe some of the things that they did not have in

         11  theirs.  We walked around the community and we

         12  looked at the positive things in the community.  But

         13  we also noted the negative things.  Because these

         14  are the things that students who are failing have

         15  lived with, they are part of the baggage that they

         16  bring into a school.  That baggage is the result of

         17  slavery and that baggage that is the result of being

         18  identified as a second class citizen in this great

         19  country.

         20                 You have to address those problems

         21  and we did.  We made sure that we established a

         22  school culture that would give the children a

         23  positive image of themselves, of their family, and

         24  of their history.

         25                 Now how did we do that?  We did very
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          2  simple things. Number one, the physical appearance

          3  of the building had to reflect something that looked

          4  like the students.  So we made sure that teachers

          5  when they started decorating their classrooms, had

          6  pictures and illustrations that looked like the

          7  students.  That was important.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Pardon me

          9  interrupting, Ms. Uzoaga.  Just I have to do this,

         10  because we only have the Council Chambers till one.

         11                 MS. UZOAGA:  Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And I wanted to

         13  make sure that everybody got an opportunity.  So if

         14  you could begin to summarize,- -

         15                 MS. UZOAGA:  I am going to make it

         16  very short.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: - -  and then if

         18  the other, I'm going to let you continue.  And if

         19  the other two, if you can summarize it very briefly,

         20  so that we can give the Chambers to Council Member

         21  Gennaro for his hearings.  Because I had it up to

         22  one o'clock.

         23                 MS. UZOAGA:  Well I just mentioned

         24  those few things.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Sure, by all
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          2  means.

          3                 MS. UZOAGA:  The next thing was that

          4  we had to work on curriculum, the curriculum

          5  inclusion would be something that we would have

          6  done.  Their were many things that we did, she

          7  mentioned what we did with the parents.

          8                 These are the kinds of ground

          9  breaking things that made the school turn around.

         10  Regent Sanford is what the larger community

         11  considers a dangerous person, but she is not

         12  dangerous for our students.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I thank you very

         15  much.  And once again, I pardon the interruption.

         16                 MS. UZOAGA:  It's okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And you will

         18  have another opportunity, because this is just the

         19  beginning.

         20                 MS. BRANNAN:  Good afternoon to the

         21  Chairman of the Education Committee and the

         22  distinguished members that are assembled here, and

         23  certainly, the wonderful audience.  It is my

         24  pleasure to be here.  I am Cheryl Brannan and I'm

         25  President of Sister- to- Sister International, which
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          2  is a network of women of African descent based in

          3  Westchester County.  I am also representing

          4  Westchester Black Women's Political Caucus, and am,

          5  in fact, the past President of that organization, in

          6  addition to Senator Ruth Hassel Thompson and

          7  Assemblyman Gary Pretlo, all of whom, along with

          8  myself, were very pleased to be here earlier on at a

          9  press conference supporting Vice- Chancellor Adelaid

         10  Sanford's candidacy for the position of Chancellor.

         11  And certainly, being supportive in many other ways.

         12                 Let me just say that when I came here

         13  today, I felt like I was coming to a funeral.  I

         14  felt like I was coming to a funeral for a bad

         15  decision.  However, I have got to tell you, having

         16  heard all of the comments of everyone assembled

         17  here, and just being, just feeling the spirit and

         18  knowing the intent of what this body is all about

         19  and what you have done and what the resolution

         20  actually represents, and the spirit that it has been

         21  presented and how we appear to move forward at this

         22  point.  I am, in fact, revived, inspired, and know

         23  that the struggle continues.

         24                 I do have a five- year- old daughter,

         25  I should say that.  And one of the things that stood
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          2  out in my mind all along, as has been articulated

          3  here quite often this morning is, what do we tell

          4  the children?

          5                 When you have someone of Dr.

          6  Sanford's caliber, who moves up the ranks and is

          7  clearly entitled and is, yet, again passed over,

          8  what do you tell the children?

          9                 Well, I think, you know, we have a

         10  good answer, and that is, that we have at least

         11  assembled the process, we are going to take these

         12  individuals to task, and guess what, injustices do

         13  happen and will continue to happen.  However, we

         14  must continue to move forward.

         15                 And I just want to personally thank

         16  Dr. Sanford for all that she has given to our

         17  children here within New York State, and to our

         18  community, overall.

         19                 And finally, let me just say that you

         20  can count on our continued support, and I certainly

         21  want to commend this body and the Chairman for the

         22  fine work that you have done.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We thank you

         25  very much for your testimony.
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          2                 MR. SENTWALI:  My name is Atism

          3  Sentwali and in African tradition, and I do not want

          4  to break with tradition today, that when someone

          5  young begins to speak, he asks his elders for

          6  permission to speak.  So I would like to permission

          7  to speak, Vice Chancellor Sanford?

          8                 I come before this body out of a

          9  sense of compassion and love for all children, who I

         10  feel that a crime has been committed against by the

         11  gang of 12 who voted against the Chancellorship of

         12  Vice- Chancellor Sanford.  A vote engendered by

         13  racism, a vote engendered by intellectual anemia, a

         14  vote engendered by ideological differences.

         15  However, the result is still the same.

         16                 I just want to state that I have made

         17  an attempt to attend every Regents' meeting.  And

         18  the reason that I attend the Regents' meetings is

         19  because anyone sitting in that audience know that

         20  Vice- Chancellor Sanford is like a, what do you call

         21  it, a Daniel in the Lion Den.  They envy her

         22  intellect, she certainly stands heads and shoulders

         23  above every one in the room, and I think they fear

         24  that more than anything.  If we did not have her

         25  there, parents, like myself, would not have a voice,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            124

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  because for the most part the Board of Regents

          3  perceived parents not as a resource, but a

          4  collection of pathologies.  They see them as beings

          5  that should not be.  But thanks to Regent Sanford,

          6  Vice- Chancellor Sanford, we have a voice at the

          7  Regents level.

          8                 I just want to point out, quickly, my

          9  observations of two meetings that I attended.  One

         10  meeting was after she had been named Vice-

         11  Chancellor of the Board of Regents.  The two

         12  individuals that put Regent Bennett's name into

         13  motion came into the room and looked at the Vice-

         14  Chancellor's tag, she had not arrived yet, and

         15  sucked their teeth and looked and shook their head

         16  in disdain like they could not believe that this

         17  woman is the Vice Chancellor of the Board of

         18  Regents.

         19                 I was at the Regents' meeting and one

         20  of my colleagues, Ms. Norman was absolutely correct,

         21  like children they passed notes around the table,

         22  and they would read it.  It did not go to Vice-

         23  Chancellor Sanford, it did not go to Regent Bowman,

         24  it did not go to Regent Farley, but all the rest

         25  received this note, they looked and they laughed.
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          2  But the greatest insult, there were two insults, but

          3  the greatest insult was when one of the Regents who

          4  put Regent Bennett's name into nomination, quoted

          5  Martin Luther King.  And if Martin Luther King had

          6  have been there, he would have thrown up right there

          7  on the floor, because everything that did come out

          8  of this woman's mouth, was so vile, was so personal,

          9  was so disrespectful that even Martin Luther King

         10  would have demanded a Resolution 250.

         11                 Now the last thing is that Chancellor

         12  got up in front of the body and he praised Regent

         13  Sanford.  His words was that she was brilliant, that

         14  she was a visionary, and he said that when all of us

         15  are gone, history will only remember Vice-

         16  Chancellor Sanford.  While I beg to differ, history

         17  will remember you, Chancellor Hayden, history will

         18  remember the gang of 12 who voted out of racism, out

         19  of ignorance, and a refusal to move forward in

         20  history.

         21                 I thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I think that is

         23  a most fitting ending testimony.  And we thank all

         24  of you for attending today.  I want to encourage you

         25  to come back out to these very Chambers on the 19th,
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          2  June 19th we are going to have our historic hearings

          3  on reparations.  I wrote a bill called the Queen

          4  Mother Moore Reparations Commission Bill, and it

          5  will be here from 2:00 to 6:00 p.m. At the City

          6  Council's hearings on June 19th, Juneteenth.  God

          7  bless you and go well.  This hearing is adjourned.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 1:25 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 14th day of June 2002.
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                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          4
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          7

          8

          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         22                 -----------------------
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